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PART 1
ITEM 1 - BUSINESS

We are a leading manufacturer of electric motoswaater heating equipment, serving a diverse miesidential, commercial and industrial
end markets principally in the United States witlirawing international presence. Our company ifoized in two operating segments:
electrical products and water systems. Our eledtpoducts business manufactures and markets prebensive line of hermetic motors,
fractional horsepower alternating current (AC) diréct current (DC) motors, and integral horsepometors. Our water systems business
manufactures and markets a comprehensive linesafaetial gas and electric water heaters, staraladdspecialty commercial water heating
equipment, high-efficiency copper-tube boilers, arader systems tanks. In 2004, we had net salapmbximately $1.7 billion, with 52
percent attributable to our electrical productsitess and 48 percent attributable to our wateesystusiness.

The following table summarizes our sales by opegasiegment. This segment summary and all othem#tion presented in this section
should be read in conjunction with the Consolid&athncial Statements and Notes to Consolidatedri€ial Statements, which appear
elsewhere in this document.

Years Ended December 31 (dollars in millions)

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Electrical Products $ 860.7 $ 8246 $ 7904 $ 802.i $ 902.
Water Systems 792.2 706.1 678.1 348.t 345.k
Total Operations $1,653.. $1,530." $1,469.. $1,151.0 $1,247.¢

ELECTRICAL PRODUCTS

Our Electrical Products segment sales increasedriién or four percent in 2004 to $861 millional8s to the heating and air conditioning
market declined four percent as a result of the tdsan important contract by one of our major O&iMtomers. Sales to all of our other
market segments were more than ten percent higharih 2003 reflecting higher unit volumes and @iitcreases related to higher costs for
steel and freight.

We are one of the three largest manufacturersestrid motors in North America, having manufactuaggroximately 40 million electric
motors in 2004. We offer a comprehensive line afitetic motors, fractional horsepower AC and DC matand integral horsepower motc
ranging in size from sub-fractional fame ventilation motors up to 500 horsepower héiaraand 400 horsepower integral motors. We bel
our extensive product offering gives us an advantagur targeted markets, often allowing us tesell of our customer’s electric motor
needs.

Our motors are used in a wide range of targetadessal, commercial and industrial applicatioms;luding: hermetic motors that are sold
worldwide to manufacturers of air conditioning ammnmercial refrigeration compressors; fractionaskpower fan motors used in furnaces,
air conditioners and blowers; fractional horsepometors for pumps for home water systems, swimmingjs, hot tubs and spas; fractional
horsepower motors used in other consumer prodsisth (as garage door openers); and integral horgzp®& and D/C motors for industrial
and commercial applications. Sales to the heatiagtilating, air conditioning and refrigeration rkat account for approximately 56 percent
of segment sales. Approximately 85 percent of @d2segment sales were to OEMs in a diverse mimxdafstries, with the remainder of
sales directed to the aftermarket or distributibarmels. We believe that more than 25 percent ofatal segment sales were attributable to
products used outside of the United States. Wenati that approximately 60 percent of sales aneeatbfrom the less cyclical replacement
business with the remainder being impacted by geibeisiness conditions in the retail and new coetitn markets.

To remain a leader in this highly competitive intlyswe are committed to being a low-cost suppdieelectric motors. We were one of the
first motor manufacturers to identify the cost-retiion potential of Mexican operations, and todaymanufacture a majority of our electric
motors in our 16 Mexican motor facilities. In 20@de undertook an initiative to accelerate the eedtiction programs that were already
underway in our motor operations to enhance ourpatitive position. These initiatives included thesure of four domestic plants, three of
which were closed in 2003, the transfer of produrcto our lower cost operations in Mexico and Charad the consolidation of warehouse
facilities into three hub operations to improvetouser service while reducing cost and a ten peneaghiction in the salaried workforce.
Though the primary repositioning program has noenbdargely completed, we intend to continue torof#e our operations in Mexico and
China by transferring production from higher to &veost operations.

2



Table of Contents

In December 2001, we acquired Shenzhen SpeedatifieduSo., Ltd. (Shenzhen), a manufacturer of sabtional horsepower electric motc
in China. In December 2002, we acquired the Jial@gangheng Group Co. Ltd (Changheng), of ChangzBibina. While Changheng has
existing customer base in China, the primary purgddoth the Shenzhen and Changheng acquisisaiesfurther expand our ability to
manufacture products for the U. S. market. In Naven2003, we acquired Taicang Special Motor Cal, (faicang), of Suzhou, China, a
manufacturer of hermetic motors for commerciakainditioning equipment. Taicang currently serves@inese operations of a number of
North American air conditioning companies and emlearour position in the global hermetic motor matr

Our principal competitors in the electric motorustty are Emerson Electric Co. and Regal BeloippGmtion. A number of other companies,
such as Fasco Motors (a subsidiary of Tecumsehuets)l Baldor Electric and Jakel Incorporated, cetapvith us in specific segments of
electric motor market.

WATER SYSTEMS

Our Water Systems business had sales in 2004 @f ®inflon, which were 12 percent or $86 million hir than in 2003. The higher sales
were the result of the introduction of higher affitcy residential water heaters, higher pricededléo increased steel and freight costs, strong
commercial volume, a 37 percent increase in Chittessand additional flammable vapor ignition resis product.

In December 2001, we acquired the privately heltewiaeater manufacturer State Industries, Inct€pfar aggregate cash consideration of
$117.6 million. This was comprised of a $61.3 naillipurchase price and the assumption of $56.3amillif debt. The acquisition of State
nearly doubled the sales of our water heating lessin

We serve residential, commercial and industrial magkets with a broad range of products, including:

Residential gas and electric water heat. Our residential water heaters come in sizes ranfyjom two-gallon (point-of-use) models to 120-
gallon appliances with varying efficiency ranges Wifer traditional atmospheric water heaters als agedirect-vented and power-vented
models for today’s energy efficient homes. Domestgidential water heater sales in 2004 were apmately $530 million or two-thirds of
segment revenues.

Standard commercial water heater®ur gas, oil and electric water heaters comajpacities ranging from 50 to 100 gallons and aesl uxy
customers who require a consistent, economicatsafrhot water. Typical applications include rassats, hotels and motels, laundries, car
washes and small businesses.

Approximately 80 percent of the residential and omrcial markets consist of the replacement of eggtroduct, although new construction
is also an important factor for the business. Oatél/'Systems business also manufactures and mageatimlty commercial water heaters,
copper-tube boilers, expansion tanks and relatedyats and parts.

We are one of the two largest manufacturers an#tetens of water heaters in North America, manufaguapproximately 2.8 million units
in 2004. We have a leading share in the commen@str heating segment, and we believe we are tlyedomestic manufacturer that offers
standard and specialty commercial water heaterystedWe believe that our comprehensive commepe@duct line gives us a competitive
advantage in this higher-margin segment of the mraating industry. We also are one of the leaitetise residential water heating segment
with an extensive line of high-efficiency gas amec&ic models.

Government regulations are having a significantaotpn the United States water heating industrgirBeng in July 2003, United States
water heater manufacturers were required to comvjilynew flammable vapor ignition resistant stanldafor residential gas water heaters.
These new regulations, developed by the manufastireooperation with the United States Consumedict Safety Commission, dictate
that gas water heaters must be designed to prageatst accidental ignition of flammable vaporsseliby spilled gasoline or other liquids
addition, a United States government requiremeidease the efficiency of residential gas andtaewater heaters went into effect on
January 20, 2004.

Our water systems wholesale distribution chanrdughes more than 750 wholesale plumbing distriteutaith more than 4,500 selling
locations serving residential, commercial and itdalsmarkets. We also sell our residential wateaters through the retail channel. In this
channel, our customers include four of the sixdatgational hardware and home center chains,dimgua long-standing private label
relationship with Sears, Roebuck and Co.
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Our principal domestic water heating competitodude Rheem Manufacturing Company, Inc. and, esadr extent, American Water He:
Company, Bradford-White Corporation and Lochinvar@dration. We also compete against numerous catorsein international markets.

RAW MATERIAL

Raw materials for our manufacturing operations,alvfdonsist primarily of steel, copper and aluminane, generally available from several
sources in adequate quantities. We hedge the nyagdrour annual copper and aluminum purchasesdtept against price volatility. While

steel prices have increased significantly overpthst year, we had adequate supply and believe wedgeements in place to assure ader
supply in the future.

SEASONALITY
There is no significant seasonal pattern to ouscolbaiated quarterly sales and earnings.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS and TRADEMARKS

In order to improve competitiveness by generatieyy products and processes, we conduct researatheaetbpment at our Corporate
Technology Center in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, as wasllat our operating units. Total expendituresdsearch and development in 2004, 2003
and 2002 were $35.9, $34.6, and $30.4 million,eetpely.

We own and use in our businesses various tradentaakie names, patents, trade secrets and licaNbdle. a number of these are important
to us, we do not consider a material part of owiress to be dependent on any one of them.

EMPLOYEES
Our company and its subsidiaries employed appraeind 6,600 employees as of December 31, 2004.

BACKLOG
Normally, none of our operations sustain signifidaaxcklogs

ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS

Our operations are governed by a variety of fedstate and local laws intended to protect therenment. While environmental
considerations are a part of all significant cdmtgenditures, compliance with the environmerdald has not had a material effect and is not
expected to have a material effect upon the cagiaénditures, earnings, or competitive positioowfcompany. See Iltem 3.

FOREIGN SALES
Total U.S. export sales from our operations wef@s$$98, and $90 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002pestively.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We maintain a website with the address www.aosogth. The information contained on our website isinduded as a part of, or
incorporated by reference into, this Annual ReporfForm 10-K. Other than an inves®own Internet access charges, we make availasd
of charge through our website our Annual ReporEorm 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curmeptorts on Form 8-K and
amendments to these reports as soon as reasomadlica@l after we have electronically filed suchtenal with, or furnished such material to,
the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The company is committed to sound corporate govemand has documented its corporate governanctgasby adopting the A. O. Smith
Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Corporate fBanee Guidelines, Criteria for Selection of Dimest Financial Code of Ethics, the A.
O. Smith Guiding Principles, as well as the charfer the Audit, Personnel and Compensation, Notinigaand Governance and the
Investment Policy Committees and other corporategmnce materials may be viewed on the compangtssite. Any waiver of or
amendments to the Financial Code of Conduct oAth@. Smith Guiding Principles also would be postedhis website; to date there have
been none. Copies of these documents will be sestbtkholders free of charge upon written requétite corporate secretary at the address
shown on the cover page of this Form 10-K.
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ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES

We manufacture our products in 43 plants worldwideese facilities have an aggregate floor spadgQdf7,000 square feet, consisting of
5,335,000 square feet owned by us and 1,682,000radeet of leased space. Twenty-eight of ourifaslare foreign plants with 2,884,000
square feet of space, of which 1,292,000 squateafedeased.

The manufacturing plants presently operated byreisisted below by industry segment.

United States Foreign
Electrical Products McMinnville, TN; Mebane, NC; Acuna, Mexico (2);
(3,908,000 sq. ft. Mt. Sterling, KY; Owosso, Ml Bray, Ireland;
Scaottsville, KY; Tipp City, OH Budapest, Hungan
Upper Sandusky, OF Gainsborough, Englan
Winchester, KY Juarez, Mexico (11

Monterrey, Mexico (3)
Changzhou, Chine
Taizhou, China
Suzhou, China
Shenzhen, Chin

Water Systems Ashland City, TN; Charlotte, NC; Juarez, Mexico;
(3,109,000 sq. ft. Cookeville, TN; Florence, KY Nanjing, China (2)
Franklin, TN; McBee, SC Stratford, Canad
Renton, WA Veldhoven, The Netherlant

The principal equipment at our facilities consstpresses, welding, machining, slitting and otinetal fabricating equipment, winding
machines, and furnace and painting equipment. \(y&rdeour plants and equipment as well-maintainedaalequate for our needs. Multishift
operations are used where necessary.

In addition to our manufacturing facilities, our YibHeadquarters and Corporate Technology Cengelogated in Milwaukee, Wisconsin.
We also have offices in Alsip, Illinois; El Pas@xgs; Lavergne, Tennessee; London, England; amghSane.

ITEM 3 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various unresolved legal acti@wninistrative proceedings and claims in ther@di course of our business involving
product liability, property damage, insurance cagey, patents and environmental matters includiaglisposal of hazardous waste. Although
it is not possible to predict with certainty the@me of these unresolved legal actions or theeafgossible loss or recovery, we believe
these unresolved legal actions will not have a risdteffect on our financial position or resultsagderations. A more detailed discussion of
these matters appears in Note 12 of Notes to Colaget! Financial Statements.

ITEM 4 - SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDER S
No matters were submitted to a vote of the sectatders during the fourth quarter of 20

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to General Instruction of G(3) of FormKlLQhe following is a list of the executive officewhich is included as an unnumbered Item
in Part | of this report in lieu of being includedthe company’s Proxy Statement for its 2005 Andieeting of Stockholders.

RANDALL S. BEDNAR
Vice President — Information Technology

Mr. Bednar, 52, was elected vice president—inforomatiechnology in July 2001. From 1996 until 2008,was vice president and chief
information officer of the Gates Corporation. Ptioithe Gates Corporation, he held a series ofiimé¢ion technology assignments during 15
years at Rockwell Automatio
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CHARLES J. BISHOP
Vice President - Corporate Technology

Dr. Bishop, 63, has been vice president-corporatBriology since 1985. Dr. Bishop joined the compariy981.
MICHAEL J. COLE

Vice President - Asia

Mr. Cole, 60, was elected vice president-Asia inrdhal996. Previously he was vice president-emergiagkets of Donnelly Corporation, an
automotive supplier.

PAUL W. JONES
President and Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Jones, 56, was elected president and chiefaipgrofficer in January 2004 and was elected diseztor in December 2004. Previously,
from 1998 to October 2002, he was chairman and eliecutive officer of U.S. Can Company. U.S. Camfpany is a leading provider of
steel containers for personal care, householdnzattee, paint, industrial and specialty productstie United States and Europe. Prior to the
U.S. Can Company, he was Chief Executive OfficeBrdenfield Industries, a global supplier of cugtinols. He is a director of Federal
Signal Corporation.

JOHN J. KITA

Vice President, Treasurer and Controller

Mr. Kita, 49, was elected vice president, treasarat controller in April 1996. From 1995 to 1996, Was treasurer and controller. Prior
thereto, he served as assistant treasurer sincénlee the company in 1988.

KENNETH W. KRUEGER

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Krueger, 48, became senior vice president dmelf ¢inancial officer in August 2000. Previouslg kvas a group vice president, finance
and business planning at Eaton Corporation. Poig&aton, he was vice president-finance for Rockwatbmation, where he worked from
1983 to 1999. He is a director of Manitowoc Compdng.

CHRISTOPHER L. MAPES

Senior Vice President and President - A. O. Smigéitteical Products Company

Mr. Mapes, 43, became president of A. O. Smith tlesd Products Company, a division of the compamygeptember 2004. He was elected
senior vice president in October 2004. Previouslyvas president of motor sales and marketing araffener of Regal-Beloit Corporation.
From 1990 to 2002, Mr. Mapes worked at Superioedai.

RONALD E. MASSA

Senior Vice President and President - A. O. Smitita/Products Company

Mr. Massa, 55, became President of A. O. Smith WRteducts Company, a division of the company,ebrbary 1999. He was elected se
vice president in June 1997. He served as thedaeisof A. O. Smith Automotive Products Companfgraner division of the company, from
June 1996 to April 1997. He was the president cbASmith Water Products Company from 1995 to 18986 and held other management
positions in the Water Products Company prior tteerde joined the company in 1977.

6



Table of Contents

ALBERT E. MEDICE
Vice President - Europe

Mr. Medice, 62, was elected vice presid&ntrope in 1995. Previously, from 1990 to 1995, las the general manager of A. O. Smith Ele
Motors (Ireland) Ltd., a subsidiary of the compally. Medice joined the company in 1986 as vice iolest-marketing for its Electrical
Products Company division.

ROBERT J. O'TOOLE

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief ExaeuOfficer

Mr. O’'Toole, 63, became chairman of the board oéatbrs in March 1992. He is a member of the Inmestt Policy Committee of the board
of directors. He was elected chief executive officeMarch 1989. He was elected president, chiefraiing officer and a director in 1986. I
O'Toole joined the company in 1963. He is a directioBriggs & Stratton Corporation, FM Global andakdhall & lisley Corporation.

MARK A. PETRARCA

Vice President - Human Resources and Public Affairs

Mr. Petrarca, 41, was elected vice president-hurasources and public affairs in January 2005. Ft889 to 2004, he served as vice
president-human resources for A. O. Smith Wated&ts Company, a division of the company. Previphsl was a director of human
resources for Strike Weapons Systems, a divisidRagtheon Systems Company.

STEVE W. RETTLER

Vice President — Business Development

Mr. Rettler, 49, was elected vice presiddnitsiness development in July 1998. Previously hewi@e president and general manager of B
Precision Tape Co., a manufacturer of specialtg fapducts for the electronics market.

W. DAVID ROMOSER
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Mr. Romoser, 61, was elected vice president, géoetmsel and secretary in March 1992.
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PART Il

ITEM 5 - MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

(@ Market Information. Our Common Stock is listed be New York Stock Exchange under the symbol AO% Class A Common Sto«
of A. O. Smith Corporation, formerly listed on tAenerican Stock Exchange under the symbol SMCA, vadisntarily delisted by the
company in August 2002. Wells Fargo ShareowneriSesyN.A., P.O. Box 64854, St. Paul, Minnesotd 8860854 serves as the

registrar, stock transfer agent and the divideimlestment agent for the compis Common Stock
Quarterly Common Stock Price Range

2nd Qtr.  3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr.

2004 1st Qtr.
High $35.8C $32.1¢ $31.9t $30.9¢
Low 28.1¢ 2750 21.6z 24.21
2nd Qtr.  3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr.

2003 1st Qtr.
High $29.3: $32.9¢ $36.4¢ $36.7:
Low 23.5¢ 26.2¢ 27.4¢  27.9¢

(b) Holders. As of January 31, 2005, the approximate numbshafeholders of record of Common Stock and ClaS€®#mon Stock wer

1,100 and 400 respective

(c) Dividends. Dividends declared on the common stock are shiowiote 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Stegets appearing

elsewhere hereit
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ITEM 6 —SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Years ended December 3@

(Dollars in Millions, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002(3)-(4) 2001 2000
Net sales- continuing operation $1,653.. $1,530.7 $1,469.: $1,151.: $1,247.¢
Earnings (Loss
Continuing operation 35.4 52.2 51.@ 14.t 4175
Discontinued operations

Loss on dispositio — — — — (11.9)

— — — — (11.9)

Net earning: $ 354 $ 522 $ b51.: $ 14kt $ 29.¢

Basic earnings (loss) per share of common s

Continuing operation $ 121 $ 18« $ 1.9 $ .61 $ 1.7¢
Discontinued operatior — — — — (.51)
Net earnings $ 121 $ 1.8« $ 1.9C $ .61 $ 1.27
Diluted earnings (loss) per share of common s

Continuing operation $ 118 $ 1.7¢€ $ 1.8¢ $ 61 $ 1.7¢
Discontinued operatior — — — — (.50
Net earning: $ 118 $ 1.7€ $ 1.8¢ $ 61 $ 1.2¢
Cash dividends per common sh $ 62 $ .58 $ B4 $ 52 $ 5C

December 31

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Total asset $1,312.¢  $1,279.¢ $1,224.¢ $1,293.¢ $1,064.¢
Long-term debt® 272t 170.1 239.1 390.4 316.¢
Total stockholders’ equity 590.¢ 58350 518.47 45920 455 .70

@  On December 8, 2000, the company sold its fibesghgsing business and on January 10, 2001, the aoyngold its liquid and dry
storage business. The company has accounted féibérglass piping and liquid and dry storage besses as discontinued operatior
the consolidated financial statemet

@  In November 2003, the company acquired the motorufseturing assets of Taicang Special Motor Cal, Bee Note 2 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsesvherein

@  Effective January 1, 2002, the company changeméthod of accounting for goodwill and identifialiangible assets with indefinite
lives. See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Findri&t@ements included elsewhere her

@  OnJuly 1, 2002, the company acquired the hermetior assets of the Athens Products division ottebdux. In December 2002, the
company acquired the motor manufacturing asset&anfjsu Changheng Group Co. Ltd. (Changheng). &&= 2Nof Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsesvherein

®  On December 28, 2001, the company acquired all@bttstanding stock of State Industries, Inc.aaufacturer of a comprehensive
line of residential and commercial water heat

©®  Excludes short-term debt and the current portioloag-term debt.

(m  Restated. See Note 11 of Notes to ConsolidatechEiakbStatements included elsewhere herein.
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ITEM 7 — MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We recorded net earnings of $35.4 million or $Ip&Bshare in 2004, compared with $52.2 million bi7$ per share recorded in 2003 and
$51.3 million or $1.86 per share in 2002. Net eayairecorded in 2004 were negatively impacted Isy iozreases to steel and freight, as well
as manufacturing inefficiencies during the firstenmonths of the year in our Ashland City plant bigther selling, general and administrat
expense (SG&A). While net earnings were flat in2@80mpared with 2002, the lower earnings per shareunt in 2003 as compared with
2002 reflected the full-year impact of our stockedhg in May 2002. Our individual segment perforroa will be discussed later in this
section.

Our working capital, excluding showrm debt, was $339.8 million at December 31, 2@04pared with $305.9 million and $225.1 milliol
December 31, 2003, and December 31, 2002, respctivhe $33.9 million increase in 2004 reflectd $4million higher receivable balanc
due to longer payment terms experienced by botuobusinesses as well as higher sales levelifotirth quarter. Offsetting the increas
receivable balances were $13.5 million lower ineentevels split about equally between Water Systemd Electrical Products and $14.3
million higher accounts payable balances. The $80l&n increase in 2003 reflects $46.6 milliorghéer inventory balances due primarily to
extensive manufacturing repositioning in our eleatnotor business and several new product intrédastand manufacturing consolidatior
our water systems business. Additionally, receiwddallances were $21.2 million higher due to pmoegases associated with new product
introductions in our water systems business andaease in international sales, which tend to Hamger payment terms. Finally, a $13.1
million increase in accounts payable balances a@gely offset by $9.4 million in restructuring exyges paid out in 2003. Reducing working
capital is one of our major initiatives in 2005.

Cash provided by operating activities during 20@%&W67.2 million compared with $29.0 million durip@03 and $116.0 million during
2002. Despite lower earnings in 2004, a smalleestment in working capital explains the majoritytloé improvement in cash flow compa
with 2003. The higher investment in working capitaP003 (as discussed above), explains the mgjofithe difference between 2003 and
2002.

Our capital expenditures were $48.5 million in 208gsentially the same as in 2003 and approxim&&B million higher than in 2002. The
increase in 2003 was associated with new produciclaes in our water systems business. We are pirgi&®005 capital expenditures to be
approximately $55 million, essentially the same@assprojected 2005 depreciation expense. We betteateour present facilities and planned
capital expenditures are sufficient to provide adde capacity for our operations in 2005.

In June 2004, we completed a $265 million, fixgar revolving credit facility with a group of eiglanks. The new facility expires on June
2009, and it replaced a $250 million credit fagilithich expired on August 2, 2004, and was terneidan June 10, 2004. The new facility
backs up commercial paper and credit line borrowig a result of the long-term nature of thislfggithe commercial paper and credit line
borrowings are now classified as long-term debtDAtember 31, 2004, we had available borrowing @fpaf $153.9 million under this
facility. We believe that the combination of avaiborrowing capacity and operating cash flow withvide sufficient funds to finance our
existing operations for the foreseeable future.

To take advantage of historically low long-termioaving rates, we issued $50.0 million in senioresotvith two insurance companies in June
2003. The notes range in maturity between 201328ié and carry a weighted average interest raségiftly less than 4.5 percent. The
proceeds of the notes were used to repay comm@agier and borrowing under the credit facility. Gauerage, as measured by the ratio of
total debt to total capitalization, was 32 percarihe end of 2004 and the end of 2003.

Aggregate Contractual Obligations

A summary of our contractual obligations as of Deber 31, 2004, is as follows:

(dollars in millions) Payments due by period

Less Thar 1-3 3-5 More than

Contractual Obligation Total 1 year Years Years 5 years
Long-term Debi $275.1 $ 8.6 $13.6 $138.2 $ 114:
Capital Lease 6.C — — 6.C —
Operating Lease 62.¢ 14.4  20.7 11.€ 16.2
Purchase Obligatior 177.% 176.€ 0.7 — —
Total $521.2 $ 199.¢ $35.2 $155.& $ 130.7
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We utilize blanket purchase orders to communicapeeted annual requirements to many of our suplRequirements under blanket
purchase orders generally do not become “firm”lgiti weeks prior to the company’s scheduled ursdpction. The purchase obligation
amount presented above represents the value of itorants considered firm.

Our pension plan continues to meet all funding reguents under ERISA regulations, and under cumentarial assumptions, we do not
expect any significant minimum funding requiremeiotsseveral years. See Note 10 of Notes to Cotst@d Financial Statements.

Included in other assets is a $34.0 million redeliw@ue to the payments of claims associated Wweldip tube class action lawsuit. See Note
12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemertig. fEceivable is classified as a long-term asseus®, while a trial was completed in
2004, the verdict was inconclusive, and a retrééds expected to be scheduled sometime in 20@%eMvect to collect the receivable after
2005 through the satisfaction of a judgment favierad us. Alternatively, collection could occur2005 if a settlement of the lawsuit is
reached with the defendants, Perfection Corporafomerican Meter Company and insurance companies.

We have paid dividends for 65 consecutive yeark patyments increasing each of the last 13 yearspaMktotal dividends of $.62 per share
in 2004 compared with $.58 per share in 2003.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our sales in 2004 were $1.65 billion, an incredsk1@2.4 million or eight percent from sales of . billion in 2003. The sales increase
resulted from new higher-priced water heater prtgjurrice increases associated with higher stakframght costs and a 37 percent increase
in China water heater sales. 2003 sales increas&6h6 million or 4.2 percent from sales of $1bdlion in 2002. The sales increase was

to a full-year impact of our 2002 acquisitions lire tmotor business, a 44 percent increase in sbtes £hinese water heater operation, and
higher water heater pricing related to steel caststhe introduction of flammable vapor ignitiosistant water heaters.

Our gross profit margin for 2004 was 18.0 percembpared with 19.5 percent and 20.4 percent in 20032002, respectively. The decline in
margin from 2003 to 2004 was attributable to higtests at Water Systems for raw materials, freggitt manufacturing inefficiencies. The
decline in margin from 2002 to 2003 resulted frgpraximately $40 million of sales from acquired imesses with margins lower than those
of our established business.

Selling, general and administrative expense (SG&ddeased $29.6 million from $206.2 million in 20@5&A was 14.3 percent of sales in
2004 and 13.5 percent in 2003. The increase in S@82004 was caused by higher selling and advediskpenses for Water Systems,
expansion in China and higher administrative expeakted to pension and personnel costs. SG&AQBDf $206.2 million was consistent
with 2002.

We have significant pension benefit costs and tselat are developed from actuarial valuation® ¥dluations reflect key assumptions
regarding, among other things, discount rates, @rgereturn on plan assets, retirement ages and géaervice. Consideration is given to
current market conditions, including changes ieriest rates, in making these assumptions. Our gw&umior the expected rate of return on
pension plan assets was 9.0 percent in 2004, ugelddrom 2003. Our 2005 assumption for return aetssis 8.75 percent. We recognized
pension income of $6.0 million, $11.6 million anti7$l million in 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectivedflected as reductions to cost of
products sold and SG&A. See Note 10 of Notes tosGlitated Financial Statements. We estimate thavileecognize approximately $3.5
million of pension expense in 2005.

In developing our expected long-term rate of remssumption, we evaluate our pension plan’s tagstt allocation, the historical long-term
rates of return of equity and bond indices andaitteal historical returns of our pension plan. Plan’s target allocation to equity managet
between 60 to 70 percent, with the remainder aéatarimarily to bond managers and a small allocatd private equity managers. Due to
market fluctuations, our actual asset allocationfd3ecember 31, 2004, was 71 percent to equityagers, 24 percent to bond managers, 3
percent to private equity managers and the remaindaoney market instruments. We regularly revaw actual asset allocation and
periodically rebalance our investments to our teegallocation when considered appropriate. Ousjogrplan’s historical 10-year and 25-
year compounded annualized returns are 12.6 peaoeint3.1 percent, respectively. We believe thét wir target allocation and tl

historical long-term returns of equity and bondi¢ed as well as our actual historical returns,&ib percent expected return on assets for
2005 is reasonable.

The discount rate that we utilize for determinintufe pension obligations is based on the averagde ¢f Moody’s Aa Corporate Bonds. The
discount rate determined on this basis has deadsasm 6.25 percent at December 31, 2003, to 6.00
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percent at December 31, 2004. We will continuevilieate our actuarial assumptions at least annuatlgl we will adjust the assumptions as
necessary.

Lowering the expected long-term rate of return sgets by 25 basis points would increase our natipeexpense for 2005 by approximately
$1.7 million. Lowering the discount rate by 25 lsgsoints would increase our 2005 net pension expbypspproximately $1.3 million.

Interest expense was $13.5 million in 2004, conmgbarih $12.2 million in 2003. The $1.3 million irease in 2004 was the result of modestly
higher debt levels and interest rates compared 2@€@8. Interest expense in 2002 was $13.9 milkxeeeding both 2004 and 2003 as the
reduction of debt resulting from our stock offeringVlay 2002 only impacted the last seven monththefyear.

Other net expense consists of bank fees, intarestrie and other non-operating items and has rechamestant over the last three years at
approximately $1.3 million.

Our effective tax rate was 25.5 percent in 20049 p&rcent in 2003 and 34.5 percent in 2002. Tlog@hic composition of our 2004 pretax
earnings resulted in a significant reduction in efiective tax rate as a greater proportion of m@swas recognized in the lower-taxed
countries of China and Mexico compared to the Wh8&ates and Europe. The decline in the rate frod2 20 2003 was due to the resolution
of a federal tax audit in May 2003.

Our 2004 net earnings declined to $35.4 milliomfr$52.2 million in 2003, primarily as a result afrsficant increases in costs for steel and
freight, manufacturing inefficiencies at one of ewater heater plants and higher SG&A expense. Bgsnper share were $1.18 in 2004
compared with $1.76 in 2003.

Electrical Products

Sales in our Electrical Products segment in 208degsed by $36.1 million to $860.7 million from #82 million in 2003. The increase was
due to higher unit volumes and price increasesaele higher costs for steel and freight. Saledltof our served motor markets with the
exception of heating, ventilating and air conditi@gn(HVAC), were more than ten percent higher treR003. HVAC sales declined four
percent in 2004 as a result of the loss of an itambicontract by one of our major OEM customergesSam 2003 were $34.2 million higher
than sales of $790.4 million in 2002 due primatdyour 2002 acquisitions of Athens Products andltaegsu Changheng Motor Group Co.
Ltd.

Operating earnings for our Electrical Products segimvere $51.5 million in 2004 or $2.7 million lekan 2003. The decrease was due
primarily to higher costs for steel and freight aredtain administrative expenses which more thé&sebthe steel related price increases and
benefits achieved by our product repositioning proy Operating earnings in 2003 were $54.2 milbo$3.4 million less than 2002 due to
pricing and manufacturing costs related to produnctepositioning to lower cost facilities.

Water Systems

Sales for our Water Systems segment were a re@@&2.4 million in 2004, or $86.3 million higher thaales of $706.1 million in 2003. The
sales growth was driven by the introduction of leigafficiency residential water heaters, highecgsirelated to higher steel and freight costs,
strong commercial volume, a 37 percent increaseifrChina operations and additional flammable vagoition resistant product. Sales of
$706.1 million in 2003 increased by $27.4 millioreo sales of $678.7 million in 2002. The increases Wue to a January 2003 price increase
to cover higher steel costs, a 44 percent incrieeShina sales and the introduction of flammablparagnition resistant product. Partially
offsetting these increases were lower unit saleonfmercial and residential retail product.

Operating earnings of $36.8 million in 2004 wer® g2million lower than the $57.2 million earned2@03. The significant benefits related to
new product introductions and stronger commeraiaiess were more than offset by raw material iooséases, higher freight expenses,
manufacturing inefficiencies during the first nimeonths and higher selling expense. Operating egsron$57.2 million in 2003 were slightly
lower than the $58.4 million earned in 2002. Mdsthe decline was associated with the flammablewémnition resistant product
introduction costs in combination with lower satéshigher margin commercial product throughoutykar.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our accounting policies are described in Note Natles to Consolidated Financial Statements. Alstisdosed in Note 1, the preparation of
financial statements in conformity with accountprinciples generally accepted in the United Stegesiires the use of estimates and
assumptions about future events that affect theuatsaeported in the financial statements and apamrying notes. Future events and their
effects cannot be determined with absolute cestairtierefore, the
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determination of estimates requires the exercigadgiment. Actual results inevitably will differdm those estimates, and such differences
may be material to the financial statements.

The most significant accounting estimates inheirettte preparation of our financial statementsudel estimates associated with the
evaluation of the recoverability of certain assetsuding goodwill and receivables resulting frone fpayment of claims associated with the
dip tube class action lawsuit (see Note 12 of NtaegSonsolidated Financial Statements) as welhasd estimates used in the determination
of liabilities related to warranty activity, litigian, product liability, environmental matters, gmehsions and other post-retirement benefits.
Various assumptions and other factors underligfiermination of these significant estimates. Tioe@ss of determining significant
estimates is fact-specific and takes into accoaetbfs such as historical experience and trendsirasome cases, actuarial techniques. We
constantly reevaluate these significant factord, adjustments are made when facts and circumstaicese. Historically, actual results have
not significantly deviated from those determinethgshe estimates described above.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)ikaged SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset RetieemObligations,” and SFAS No.
146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit@isposal Activities.” We adopted SFAS No. 143 onuly 1, 2003. Adoption of this
statement did not have a material impact on ousalatated financial statements. SFAS No. 146 isatiife for exit or disposal activities
initiated after December 31, 2002. Adoption of ttistement did not have a material impact on oosalidated financial statements.

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No(rE&ed 2004), Share-Based Payment, which isiaioevof SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS N8(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, AccountingSfimrck Issued to Employees,
and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flowser@ly, the approach in SFAS No. 123(R) is simitathe approach described in SF
No. 123. However, SFAS No. 123(R) requires all e-based payments to employees, including grantsnpl@yee stock options, to be
recognized in the income statement based on thieivdlues. Pro forma disclosure is no longer teraative.

SFAS No. 123(R) must be adopted no later than TURD05. Early adoption will be permitted in pesad which financial statements have
not yet been issued. We expect to adopt SFAS N2(R)2on July 1, 2005.

As permitted by SFAS No. 123, the company curreatigounts for share-based payments to employeeg ASIB Opinion No. 25's intrinsic
value method and, as such, generally recognizeempensation cost for employee stock options. Atiogty, the adoption of SFAS No. 123
(R)’s fair value method could have a significanpamt on our results of operations, although it héll’e no impact on our overall financial
position. The impact of adoption of SFAS No. 123¢8hnot be predicted at this time because it wilehd on levels of shalbmsed paymen
granted in the future. However, had we adopted SNAS123(R) in prior periods, the impact of tharstard would have approximated the
impact of SFAS No. 123 as described in the discksii pro forma net earnings and earnings per skeler in Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. SFAS No. 128(8) requires the benefits of tax deductions ireexof recognized compensation cost to
be reported as a financing cash flow, rather tiaanaoperating cash flow as required under culitenditure. This requirement will reduce net
operating cash flows and increase net financing flas/s in periods after adoption. While the compaannot estimate what those amounts
will be in the future (because they depend on, ajather things, when employees exercise stock mgtidhe amount of operating cash flc
recognized in prior periods for such excess taxudgons were $2.5, $0.8 and $2.4 million in 200802 and 2002, respectively.

Outlook

We have implemented significant price increasdsoin of our businesses, the most recent increaseg bffective with the beginning of this
year. These price increases have been put in faaféset the negative impact of material and fngigpst increases. While we are gener
pleased with the impact and acceptance of the mee& |gvels, it is far too early to project theltimate impact and acceptance. Accordingly,
we have determined that we will not provide a fast@f earnings per share at this time.

OTHER MATTERS

Environmental

Our operations are governed by a number of fedstate and local environmental laws concerninggireeration and management of
hazardous materials, the discharge of pollutantstire environment and remediation of sites ownethb company or third parties. We have
expended financial and managerial resources complyith such laws. Expenditures related to envirental matters were not material in
2004 and are not expected to be material in amglesiyear. Although we believe that our operatiarssaubstantially in compliance with such
laws and maintain procedures designed to maintain
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compliance, there are no assurances that substaddiitional costs for compliance will not be ind in the future. However, since the same
laws govern our competitors, we should not be pladea competitive disadvantage.

Market Risk

We are exposed to various types of market risksyarily currency and certain commodities. We mondor risks in such areas on a
continuous basis and generally enter into forwaudifatures contracts to minimize such exposurepéoiods of less than one year. We da
engage in speculation in our derivatives strategiegher discussion regarding derivative instruteéncontained in Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Commaodity risks include raw material price flucioas. We use futures contracts to fix the costwfexpected needs for certain raw
materials (i.e. copper and aluminum) with the ofdyecof reducing price risk. Futures contracts uechased over time periods and at volume
levels which approximate expected usage. At Dece@be2004, we had commodity futures contracts arting to $81.0 million of

commodity purchases. A hypothetical ten percenhghan the underlying commaodity price of such cacts would have a potential impac:
$8.1 million. It is important to note that gaingddnsses from the company’s futures contract a@wiwill be offset by gains and losses in the
underlying commaodity purchase transactions beirtdgbd.

In addition, we enter into foreign currency forwaahtracts to minimize the effect of fluctuatingdimn currencies. At December 31, 2004,
we had net foreign currency contracts outstandfrigfl@9.2 million. Assuming a hypothetical ten pertcaeovement in the respective
currencies, the potential foreign exchange gaioss associated with the change in rates would attou$11.9 million. It is important to nc
that gains and losses from our forward contragviies will be offset by gains and losses in thelarlying transactions being hedged.

Our earnings exposure related to movements indsteates is primarily derived from outstandingflog-rate debt instruments that are
determined by short-term money market rates. Atebdser 31, 2004, we had $117.5 million in outstagdioating-rate debt with a weighted-
average interest rate of 2.4 percent at year erg/phthetical ten percent annual increase or deergathe year-end average cost of our
outstanding floating-rate debt would result in arfpe in annual pretax interest expense of $0.3omill

Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains statements that we believéfaraard-looking statements” within the meaningtbé Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements galiye can be identified by the use of words suchnaay,” “will,” “expect,” “intend,”
“estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue” awords of similar meaning. These forward-lookingeaents are subject to risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual resultsfferdnaterially from those anticipated as of théedaf this release. Factors that could cause
such a variance include the following: significamtreases in raw material prices; competitive pressson the company’s businesses;
instability in the company’s electric motor and argproducts markets; adverse changes in genemabeto conditions; and the potential that
assumptions on which the company based its exj@tsadre inaccurate or will prove to be incorrect.

Forwardiooking statements included in this report are malg as of the date of this report, and the corgpamnder no obligation to upd:
these statements to reflect subsequent eventscontitances. All subsequent written and oral fodalaoking statements attributed to the
company, or persons acting on its behalf, are figdlentirely by these cautionary statements.

ITEM 7A —QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

See “Market Risk” above.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
A. O. Smith Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of A. O. Smith Corporation as of Decer8he2004 and 2003, and the rele
consolidated statements of earnings, comprehepsirengs, stockholders’ equity and cash flows faheof the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2004. Our audits also inclugedinancial statement schedule listed in the ingtdkem 15(a). These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibilityeofdmpany’s management. Our responsibility isxiress an opinion on these financial
statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on flasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesused and significant estimates made by marnageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of A. O.
Smith Corporation at December 31, 2004 and 2008 tla& consolidated results of its operations amdash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2004, in confgrmith U.S. generally accepted accounting princdpklso, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when considerediatioa to the basic financial statements takenabale, presents fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the effectiveness
of A. O. Smith Corporatiors internal control over financial reporting as efd@mber 31, 2004, based on criteria establisheddémal Contrc

- Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteepainSoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisaiwh our report dated January 31,
2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
January 31, 2005
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003
Restated
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 251 $ 18.7
Receivable! 281.¢ 236.7
Inventories 233.t 247.C
Deferred income taxe 10.¢ 14.:
Other current asse 33.¢ 31.C
Total Current Assets 585.( 547
Net property, plant and equipme 358.¢ 367.t
Goodwill 303.¢ 303.¢
Other intangible: 9.4 7.1
Other asset 55.¢ 53.¢
Total Assets $1,312.¢ $1,279.¢
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Shor-term debr $ — $ 96.€
Trade payable 158.¢ 144
Accrued payroll and benefi 28.2 30.t
Accrued liabilities 30.€ 37.7
Product warrant 17.t 18.€
Income taxe: 1.1 1.€
Long-term debt due within one ye 8.€ 8.€
Total Current Liabilities 245.2 338.¢
Long-term debt 272.F 170.1
Product warrant 42.3 43.2
Pos-retirement benefit obligatio 16.€ 17.C
Deferred income taxe 13.¢ 20.€
Pension liability 87.¢ 61.€
Other liabilities 43.7 455
Total Liabilities 722.% 696.2
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 7 anc
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stoc — —
Class A Common Stock (shares issued 8,522,912 &30,830) 42.¢€ 427
Common Stock (shares issued 24,026,450 and 24 M) 24.C 24.C
Capital in excess of par vall 70.¢ 73.€
Retained earning 648.2 631.2
Accumulated other comprehensive | (112.9 (97.2)
Unearned compensatit (3.9 —
Treasury stock at co (79.5) (91.7)
Total Stockholders’ Equity 590.¢ 583.t
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $1,312.¢ $1,279.¢

See accompanying notes which are an integral p#nese statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions, ekpep share amounts)

2004 2003 2002

Net sales $1,653.. $1,530.7 $1,469.:

Cost of products sol 1,355.. 1,232.( 1,169.
Gross profit 298.( 298.7 299.¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 235.¢ 206.2 206.2
Interest expens 13.t 12.2 13.€
Other expens- net 1.2 1.3 1.3

47.5 79.C 78.4

Provision for income taxe 12.1 26.¢ 27.1

Net Earnings $ 354 $ 52z $ 51z
Net Earnings Per Share of Common Stoc $ 121 $ 18C $ 1.9
Diluted Net Earnings Per Share of Common Stock $ 118 $ 1.7¢ $ 1.8¢

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS (L OSS)

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)

2004 2003 2002

Net Earnings $354 $522 $ 51.c
Other comprehensive earnings (lc
Foreign currency translation adjustme 24 4.2 3.1
Unrealized net gain (loss) on cash flow derivathstruments, less related income tax effect of&j(ih
2004, $(8.4) in 2003 and $2.1 in 2C 2.2 13.1 (3.4)
Adjustment to additional minimum pension liabillgss related income tax effect of $12.6 in 2004,
$(4.7) in 2003 and $75.2 in 20! (19.7) 7.4 (114.9)
Comprehensive Earnings (Lo $20.2 $76.¢ $ (63.7)

See accompanying notes which are an integral p#nese statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002
Operating Activities
Net earnings $354 $52z $ 51:
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash pexvby operating activitie
Depreciation and amortization 53¢ 52 1 50.7
Net change in current assets and liabili (23.6) (78.2) 8.2
Net change in noncurrent assets and liabil 1.3 (1.5 2.3
Other 2.8 4.4 3.5
Cash Provided by Operating Activities 67.2 29.C 116.C
Investing Activities
Acquisition of businesse 2.3 (4.8 (23.9
Capital expenditure (48.9) (48.€) (46.39)
Cash Used in Investing Activities (50.7) (53.9 (69.7)
Financing Activities
Shor-term debt retirer- net — (13.7) —
Long-term debt incurre: 14.c 50.C —
Long-term debt retirer (8.6) (12.7) (156.9)
Net proceeds from common stock offer — — 127.t
Net proceeds from option activi 3.C 2.€ 5.8
Dividends paic (18.2) (16.8) (14.39)
Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities (9.5) 10.4 (37.2)
Cash Flow Provided by (Used in) Discontinued Operains (0.6) (0.7 3.C
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 6.4 (14.7 12.1
Cash and cash equivale-beginning of yea 18.7 32.¢ 20.7
Cash and Cash Equivalent-End of Year $251 $187 $ 32.¢

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.

19




Table of Contents

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic

2004 2003 2002
Restated Restated
Class A Common Stock
Balance at beginning of ye $ 427 $ 43.C $ 43k
Conversion of Class A Common Stc (0.7) (0.3 (0.5
Balance at end of ye $ 42 $ 427 $ 43C
Common Stock
Balance at beginning of ye $ 240 $ 240 $ 23.¢
Conversion of Class A Common Stc — — 0.1
Balance at end of ye $ 240 $ 240 $ 24
Capital in Excess of Par Value
Balance at beginning of ye $ 73¢ $ 73EL $ 54.¢
Conversion of Class A Common Stc 0.1 & 0.4
Exercise of stock optior (5.9 (0.9 (2.9
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic 235 0.8 2.4
Sale of Common Stoc — — 18.4
Stock incentives and direct’ compensatiol 0.3 0.2 0.3
Balance at end of ye $ 706 $ 73¢ $ 73t
Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of ye $631.2 $595.¢& $551.F
Prior period adjustment (Note 1 — — 7.3
Net earning: 35.4 52.2 51.c
Cash dividends on Common Stc (18.2) (16.¢) (14.9)
Balance at end of ye $648.« $631z $595.¢
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Los:
Balance at beginning of ye $(97.2) $(121.9 $ (6.9
Foreign currency translation adjustme 2.4 4.2 3.1
Unrealized net gain (loss) on cash flow derivathsgruments, less related income tax effect of&(ih
2004, $(8.4) in 2003 and $2.1 in 2C 2.2 13.1 (3.4)
Adjustment to additional minimum pension liabillgss related income tax effect of $12.6 in 2004, B(in
2003 and $75.2 in 20( (19.7) 7.4 (114.9)
Balance at end of ye $(112.9) $ (97.2) $(121.9
Unearned Compensatior
Balance at beginning of ye $ — $ — & —
Issuance of restricted stock, net of amortiza (3.9 — —
Balance at end of ye $ B34 $ — $ —
Treasury Stock
Balance at beginning of ye $ (91.1) $ (96.0) $(214.9
Sale of Common Stoc — — 109.(
Exercise of stock options, net of 127,352 sharezndered as proceeds in 2004 and net of 10,32&8sha
surrendered as proceeds in 2! 7.2 3.t 8.€
Stock incentives and direct’ compensatiol 4.4 14 1.2
Balance at end of ye $(79.5) $(91.1) $ (96.0
Total Stockholders’ Equity $590.6 $583.E $518.«



See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization. A. O. Smith Corporation (the company) is a manufeatserving customers worldwide. The company’sompjoduct lines
include fractional horsepower alternating currext)), direct current (D/C), hermetic and integrat$epower electric motors, as well as
residential and commercial water heaters. The cagiparoducts are manufactured and marketed primariorth America. Electric moto
are sold principally to original equipment manutaets and distributors. Water heaters are solctipa@tly to plumbing wholesalers and retail
outlets.

Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of the company and its wholly owned subsig$ after elimination
of intercompany transactions.

Use of estimates The preparation of financial statements in camity with accounting principles generally accepirethe United States
requires management to make estimates and assasftat affect the amounts reported in the accogipgtiinancial statements and notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair value of financial instruments. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalsrdsivables and trade payables approximated fair
value as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, due tshtbet maturities of these instruments. The carrgimpunt of longerm debt approximate
fair value as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, basexlirrent rates offered to the company for deki thie same or similar maturities. The
fair values of derivative financial instruments discussed later in this footnote.

Foreign currency translation. For all subsidiaries outside the United Statedh wie exception of all Mexican operations and sufislly all
of the China operations of the company’s ElectriRaducts segment, the company uses the localnoyrees the functional currency. For
those operations using a functional currency adtiien the U.S. dollar, assets and liabilities amadtated into U.S. dollars at year-end
exchange rates, and revenues and expenses atattdrd weighted-average exchange rates. Theirgstrianslation adjustments are
recorded as a separate component of stockholdgugyeThe Mexican operations and the majorityhef China operations of the company’s
Electrical Products segment use the U.S. dolld@h@$unctional currency as such operations areexidand integral component of the
company’s U.S. operations. Gains and losses fragigo currency transactions are included in netiegs.

Cash and cash equivalentsThe company considers all highly liquid investisegenerally with a maturity of three months @slevhen
purchased, to be cash equivalents.

Inventory valuation. Inventories are carried at lower of cost or marigetst is determined on the last-in, first-out (L)R®ethod for
substantially all domestic inventories, which cois@i88 percent and 91 percent of the company’sitotantory at December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively. Inventories of foreign subsidmand supplies are determined using the firdfirist-out (FIFO) method.

Property, plant and equipment.Property, plant and equipment are stated at cegirdziation is computed primarily by the straighel
method. The estimated service lives used to comgrytecciation are generally 25 to 50 years fordigs and 5 to 20 years for equipment.
Maintenance and repair costs are expensed aséacurr

Goodwill and other intangibles.The company adopted Statement of Financial Accogritandards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” effective January 1, 2002. UrsleAS No. 142, goodwill and indefinite-lived intsihle assets (totaling $3.0 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003) are no longer amortiaedre reviewed for impairment on an annual b&parable intangible assets that are
not deemed to have an indefinite life are amortmea straight-line basis over their estimateduldefes which range from 5 to 30 years.
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (ontinued)

Impairment of long-lived and amortizable intangible assetsProperty, plant and equipment and intangible assddifect to amortization are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or chaimgegcumstances indicate that the carrying amaouay not be recoverable. If the sum of
the expected undiscounted cash flows is less ti@aparrying value of the related asset or grougsséts, a loss is recognized for the
difference between the fair value and carrying ®atithe asset or group of assets. Such analysessarily involve significant judgment.

Derivative instruments. SFAS No. 133, as amended, requires that all dérevaistruments be recorded on the balance shéair aalue and
establishes criteria for designation and effectassnof the hedging relationships. Any fair valuarades are recorded in net earnings or other
comprehensive earnings (loss).

The company utilizes certain derivative instrumeaatenhance its ability to manage currency expasanel raw materials price risks.
Derivative instruments are entered into for periodissistent with the related underlying exposuresdo not constitute positions indepenc
of those exposures. The company does not entecamtivacts for speculative purposes. The contiaet®xecuted with major financial
institutions with no credit loss anticipated foildige of the counterparties to perform.

Commodity Futures Contracts

In addition to entering into supply arrangementthimnormal course of business, the company alsrseimto futures contracts to fix the cost
of certain raw material purchases, principally aapgnd aluminum, with the objective of minimizinganges in cost due to market price
fluctuations.

The commodity futures contracts are designatedaandunted for as cash flow hedges of a forecasdeddction. Derivative commodity
assets of $13.9 million and $15.7 million are releatin other current assets as of December 31, 2002003, respectively. The value of the
effective portion of the contracts of $13.6 milliand $15.6 million as of December 31, 2004 and 268spectively, was recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive earnings (losshfriax, and reclassified into cost of productilsn the period in which the underlying
transaction was recorded in earnings. Ineffectmeigns of the commodity hedges are recorded iniegs in the period in which the
ineffectiveness occurs. The impact of hedge ingéffeness on earnings was not material in 2004, 20@32002.

Foreign Currency Forward Contrac

The company is exposed to foreign currency exchaisges a result of transactions in currenciegiothan the functional currency of certain
subsidiaries. The company utilizes foreign currefocward purchase and sale contracts to manageothélity associated with foreign
currency purchases, sales and certain intercompangactions in the normal course of business.r@ctsttypically have maturities of one
year or less. Principal currencies include the Maxipeso, Hungarian forint, British pound, Canadialar, Euro and U.S. dolla

Forward contracts are designated and accounteasfoash flow hedges of a forecasted transactionvd®e currency assets of $5.3 million
as of December 31, 2004, are recorded in otheestassets, and derivative currency liabilitie$D0 million as of December 31, 2003, are
recorded in accrued liabilities. Gains and losgethese instruments are recorded in accumulated ottimprehensive earnings (loss), net of
tax, until the underlying transaction is recorde@arnings. When the hedged item is realized, gaitssses are reclassified from accumul
other comprehensive earnings (loss) to the stateaferarnings. The assessment of effectivenes®farard contracts is based on changes in
the forward rates. These hedges have been detetnoie perfectly effective.
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (ontinued)

The majority of the amounts in accumulated othenm@hensive earnings (loss) for cash flow hedgesgpected to be reclassified into
earnings within one year.

The following table summarizes, by currency, thetcactual amounts of the company’s foreign currefiocyward contracts.

December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003
Buy Sell Buy Sell
Euro $ 26 $65 $ — $—
Canadian dolla — 4.3 — 8.2
British pound — — 2.8 2.2
Hungarian forint 1.3 — 08 —
Mexican pes¢ 109.7 — 122.¢ —
Total $113.¢ $10.6 $126.« $10.4

The forward contracts in place at December 31, 20@12003, amounted to approximately 89 percen®2nuercent, respectively, of the
company’s anticipated subsequent year exposut@dse currencies hedged.

Revenue recognitionThe company recognizes revenue upon transferdefwhich generally occurs upon shipment of thedpo to the
customer.

Contracts and customer purchase orders are ggnesaitl to determine the existence of an arranger8aigping documents are used to
verify delivery. The company assesses whethereahiag price is fixed or determinable based upanpayment terms associated with the
transaction and whether the sales price is sutjaefund or adjustment. The company assessextbiliy based primarily on the
creditworthiness of the customer as determinedréglicchecks and analysis, as well as the custenpayment history.

Accruals for customer returns for defective prodaret based on historical experience with similpesyof sales. Accruals for rebates and
incentives are based on pricing agreements angesrerally tied to sales volume. Changes in suctuatcmay be required if future returns
differ from historical experience or if actual salolume differs from estimated sales volume. Reband incentives are recognized as a
reduction of sales.

Shipping and handling costs billed to customersrarieided in net sales and the related costs atedad in cost of products sold.

Advertising. Advertising costs are charged to operations agiiediand amounted to $23.7, $18.4 and $16.2 mitianing 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

Research and developmenResearch and development costs are charged tatiopsras incurred and amounted to $35.9, $34.6:80c4
million during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Product warranty. The company’s products carry warranties that gélyai@nge from one to six years and are based wnsi¢hat are
generally accepted in the market. The company dscalliability for the expected cost of warrantiated claims at the time of sale. The
allocation of our warranty liability between curt@md long-term is based on expected warranty slanbe paid in the next year as
determined by historical product failure rates.

The following table presents the company’s produmtranty liability activity in 2004 and 2003:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003

Balance at beginning of ye $62.1 $63.2
Expense 30.€ 29.1
Claims settlec (33.2) (30.2)
Balance at end of ye $ 59.¢ $62.1

Environmental costs.The company accrues for losses associated with@maental obligations when such losses are protzatie
reasonably estimable. Costs of estimated futuremdipures are not discounted to their present védeeoveries of environmental costs from
other parties are recorded as assets when theiptég considered probable. The accruals are s facts and circumstances change.
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (ontinued)

Stock-based compensationThe company has one stock-based employee compamgédn (see Note 9). SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” encourages, but doegquoire, companies to record compensation costémk-based employee
compensation plans at fair value. The company hasen to continue applying Accounting PrincipleailoOpinion (APB) No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” anchtedl interpretations in accounting for its stockdzhcompensation plan. Accordingly,
because the number of shares is fixed and theisggrtce of the stock options equals the markieepf the underlying stock on the date of
grant, no compensation expense has been recognized.

Had compensation cost been determined based updaitlvalue at the grant date for awards undeptaes based on the provisions of SF
No. 123, the compar's pro forma earnings and earnings per share waNg been as follows:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions, exceper share amounts) 2004 2003 2002
Earnings:
As reportec $35.4 $52.2 $51.c
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensatioaresgpdetermined under fair value based methoafr
tax 20 (2.8 (1.9
Pro forma $33.4 $50.2 $49.7

Earnings per shar
As reported

Basic $1.21 $1.8C $1.9C

Diluted 1.1¢€ 1.7¢ 1.8¢
Pro forma:

Basic $1.14 $1.74 $1.84

Diluted 1.1z 1.7C 1.8C

Earnings per share of common stockThe numerator for the calculation of basic andtdduearnings per share is net earnings. The falig
table sets forth the computation of basic and @duteighted-average shares used in the earninghper calculations:

2004 2003 2002
Denominator for basic earnings per st- weightecaverage shares outstand 29,279,100 29,031,28 27,002,10
Effect of dilutive stock options and restrictedcit 633,73° 679,56 646,96
Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 29,912,833 29,710,85 27,649,06

Reclassifications Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiembhform to the 2004 presentation.

New accounting standardsDuring 2002, the Financial Accounting StandardsrBd&ASB) issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Aisse
Retirement Obligations,” and SFAS No. 146, “Accangtfor Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Adtes.” SFAS No. 143 was adopted
by the company on January 1, 2003. Adoption ofdtasement did not have a material impact on tmepamy’s consolidated financial
statements. SFAS No. 146 is effective for exitigpdsal activities initiated after December 31, 20@doption of this statement did not have
a material impact on the company'’s consolidatedrfaial statements.

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No(rE/@ed 2004), “Share-Based Payment”, which isvésion of SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”. SFAS M23(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “AccounforgStock Issued to
Employees”, and amends SFAS No. 95, “Statementash®lows”. Generally, the approach in SFAS No(R2& similar to the approach
described in SFAS No. 123. However, SFAS No. 123équires all share-based payments to employegading grants of employee stock
options, to be recognized in the income statemasédb on their fair values. Pro forma disclosumisonger an alternative.

SFAS No. 123(R) must be adopted no later than TURD05. Early adoption will be permitted in pesad which financial statements have
not yet been issued. We expect to adopt SFAS N&(R)2on July 1, 2005. SFAS No. 123(R) permits pubtimpanies to adopt its
requirements using one of two methods: (1) a “niediprospective” method in which compensation éstcognized beginning with the
effective date (a) based on the requirements ofSSNA. 123(R) for all share-based payments graritedthe effective date and (b) based on
the requirements of SFAS No. 123 for all awardsitgd to employees prior to the effective date oASWo. 123(R) that remain unvested on
the effective date; or (2) a “modified retrospeetimethod which includes the requirements of thelifiex prospective method described
above, but also permits entities to restate basgti®mamounts previously recognized under SFAS18.for purposes of pro forma
disclosures.
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (ontinued)

either (a) all prior periods presented or (b) piterim periods of the year of adoption. The compplans to adopt SFAS No. 123(R) using
the modified-prospective method.

As permitted by SFAS No. 123, the company curreatigounts for share-based payments to employereg ASIB Opinion No. 25’s intrinsic
value method and, as such, generally recognizeempensation cost for employee stock options. Atiogty, the adoption of SFAS No. 123
(R)’s fair value method could have a significanpamt on our results of operations, although it héll’e no impact on our overall financial
position. The impact of adoption of SFAS No. 123¢Bhnot be predicted at this time because it wilehd on levels of shalmsed paymen
granted in the future. However, had we adopted SNASL23(R) in prior periods, the impact of tharstard would have approximated the
impact of SFAS No. 123 as described in the discksii pro forma net earnings and earnings per skaliEr in this note. SFAS No. 123(R)
also requires the benefits of tax deductions ireeg®f recognized compensation cost to be repasgedfinancing cash flow, rather than as an
operating cash flow as required under currentdite®e. This requirement will reduce net operatiagicflows and increase net financing cash
flows in periods after adoption. While the compaaynot estimate what those amounts will be in tieré (because they depend on, among
other things, when employees exercise stock optitims amount of operating cash flows recognizegkior periods for such excess tax
deductions were $2.5, $0.8, and $2.4 million in2aD03 and 2002, respectively.

2. Acquisitions

In November 2003, the company acquired certairasgtts of Taicang Special Motor Co., Ltd. (Taicaaghanufacturer of commercial
hermetic electric motors located in Suzhou, Jiarigswince, China. The total cost of the acquisitias $4.0 million including future
payments of $2.3 million which were made in 200disTcost exceeded the fair value of the net as®epgired by $0.4 million which was
recorded as goodwill in the Electrical Productsnseqt.

In July 2002, the company acquired certain nettagdehe Athens Products (Athens) division of Biectrolux Group. In December 2002,
company acquired the motor manufacturing assettaofjsu Changheng Group Co. Ltd. (Changheng). dtaédost of these acquisitions was
$25.0 million including future payments of $3.1 loih which were made in 2003 and acquisition co$t80.1 million and exceeded the fair
value of the net assets acquired by $3.7 millioictviwas recorded as goodwill in the Electrical Rictd segment. Athens, based in Athens,
Tennessee, is a manufacturer of hermetic motorsdtr scroll and reciprocating compressors. Chamglelocated in the Jiangsu provinc
China and manufactures air-moving motors.

The respective purchase prices for the Taicangegland Changheng acquisitions were allocatedetagbets acquired and liabilities
assumed based upon current estimates of theiratdgpéair values at the date of acquisition. Tipemting results of these companies have
been included in the compasyctonsolidated financial statements since the ddtasquisition. The pro forma effect of the Taigaacquisitior
would not be significant to 2003 operating results.

3. Statement of Cash Flow:

Supplemental cash flow information is as follows:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Net change in current assets and liabilit

Receivable! $(44.9 $(21.2) $1.9
Inventories 12.¢ (45.2) (0.6
Other current asse (2.5 (1.5) (0.3
Trade payable 14.c 13.1 (5.9
Accrued liabilities, including payroll and benel (8.8) (25.9 8.8
Income taxe: 54 1L.¢ 7.€

$(23.€) $(78.2) $8.2
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4. Inventories

December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003

Finished product $141.€  $153.¢
Work in proces: 57.7 48.2
Raw materialt 81.7 70.€
Inventories, at FIFO co 281.C 272.¢
LIFO reserve 47.t 25.¢

$233.5  $247.(

5. Property, Plant and Equipment

December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003

Land $ 93 $10¢

Buildings 136.¢ 140.C

Equipment 606.¢ 568.(

Software 21.1 19.4
773.¢ 738.3

Less accumulated depreciation and amortize 415.( 370.¢

$358.6  $367.t

6. Goodwill

In connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 142 tompany completed the transitional goodwill impent test that required the company
to compare the fair value of its reporting unitshte carrying value of the net assets of the rdereporting units as of January 1, 2002.
Based on this analysis, the company concludechthahpairment existed at the time of adoption, a@wodordingly, the company has not
recognized any transitional impairment loss. Aaxditlly, the company concluded that no impairmeigtes at the time of the annual
impairment tests which were performed in the fogplarter of 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. fWrereporting units used to test
goodwill for impairment are Electrical Products ai@dter Systems.

There were no changes in the carrying amount oflgdbin 2004. Changes in the carrying amount obdwill during the year ended
December 31, 2003, consisted of the following:

Electrical
Water
(dollars in millions) Products  System: Total
Balance at December 31, 2C $233.6 $68.6 $302.
Acquisition of business (see Note 0.4 — 0.4
Adjustment to finalize 2002 acquisitio aL{e — 1.C
Balance at December 31, 2C $235.2. $68.€ $303.¢
7. Debt and Lease Commitments
December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003
Bank credit lines, average y-end interest rate of 2.8% for 2004 and 1.7% forx $ 66 $ 6.F
Commercial paper, average y-end interest rate of 2.4% for 2004 and 1.4% forZ 104.t 90.:
Term notes with insurance companies, expiring thno2018, average year-end interest rate of 6.2% f
2004 and 6.3% for 20C 157.t 166.2
Other notes, expiring through 2012, average-end interest rate of 2.5% for 2004 and 2 12.t 12.t
281.1 275.k
Less sho~term debt 96.¢

Less loni-term debt due within one ye 8.6 8.€




Long-term debi $272.5  $170.1
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7. Debt and Lease Commitments (continuec

The company has a $265 million multi year revolvingdit agreement with a group of eight finanaiestitutions, which expires on June 10,
2009. Borrowings under the company’s bank credédiand commercial paper borrowings are suppostékdebrevolving credit agreement.
As a result of the long-term nature of this fagjlithe commercial paper and credit line borrowiags classified as long-term debt at
December 31, 2004. At its option, the company naéisteither cash balances or pays fees for bawlit eied services.

During June 2003, the company issued an addit®s@Imillion in senior notes with two insurance ca@nigs. The notes range in maturity
between 2013 and 2016 and carry a weighted-avénsgyest rate of slightly less than 4.5 percent Ploceeds of the notes were used to
repay commercial paper and revolver borrowing.

Scheduled maturities of long-term debt within eatthe five years subsequent to December 31, 28@4as follows: 2005-$8.6; 2006-$6.9;
2007-$6.9; 2008-$15.6; 2009-$128.6 million.

Future minimum payments under non-cancelable opgriases relating mostly to office, manufacturamgl warehouse facilities total $62.9
million and are due as follows: 2005-$14.4; 2006-$12007-$9.7; 2008-$7.0; 2009-$4.6; and there&16.2 million. Rent expense,
including payments under operating leases, wa2$$22.4 and $22.0 million in 2004, 2003 and 2@68pectively.

Interest paid by the company was $13.5, $12.2 a8d34dmillion in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

8.  Stockholders’ Equity

The company’s authorized capital consists of 3iomilshares of Preferred Stock $1 par value, 14anikhares of Class A Common Stock $5
par value, and 60 million shares of Common Stock&1lvalue. The Common Stock has equal dividerusigith Class A Common Stock
and is entitled, as a class, to elect 25 percetiteoBoard of Directors and has 1/10th vote peresha all other matters.

On May 10, 2002, the company completed the sale7f6,065 shares of Common Stock held in treagurg.$127.5 million net proceeds
from the offering were used to reduce long-termtdeb

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, 8,018, 64,505 and @lsbéres, respectively, of Class A Common Stoclewenverted into Common Stock.
Regular dividends paid on the Class A Common SamekCommon Stock amounted to $.62, $.58 and $.6dhaee in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

At December 31, 2004, 32,595 and 2,851,637, shdr€tass A Common Stock and Common Stock, respalgtiwere held as treasury sto
At December 31, 2003, 32,595 and 3,270,754 shd@kss A Common Stock and Common Stock, respdgtiveere held as treasury stock.

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003

Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustme $ 3.2 $ 0.8
Unrealized net gain on cash flow derivative instemts 11.F 9.3
Additional minimum pension liabilit (227.0 (207.9

$(112.9  $ (979

9. Stock Options and Restricted Stocl

The company adopted the A. O. Smith Combined Exexilticentive Compensation Plan (the “plan”) effeetlanuary 1, 2002. The plan
superceded and replaced two predecessor incemtimpansation plans. The plan provides for the isseiah 1.5 million stock options at
exercise prices equal to the fair value of CommimelSon the date of grant. Additionally, any shates would have been available for stock
option grants under either of the predecessor plagssch plans were in effect, will be availabte firanting of stock option awards under the
plan. Of the 228,300 options granted in 2004, T f@come exercisable one year from date of grahtLl&6,600 become exercisable three
years from date of grant. The options granted d328nhd 2002 become exercisable one year from dat@wot. For active employees,

options granted in 2004, 2003 and
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9. Stock Options and Restricted Stock (continued

2002 expire ten years after date of grant. The rurobshares available for granting of options at@nber 31, 2004, was 613,050.

Participants may also be awarded shares of restrgtbck under the plan. The company granted 1894100 and 49,000 shares of
restricted Common Stock under the plan in 2004320t 2002, respectively. The restricted shares welued at $3.9, $1.4 and $1.3 million
at the date of issuance in 2004, 2003 and 200gectsely, and will be recognized as compensatiqrease ratably over the three-year

vesting period. Compensation expense of $1.5, $30650.1 million was recognized in 2004, 2003 ab@22 respectively.

Changes in option shares, all of which are ComntookS were as follows:

Weighted-Avg. Years Ended December 31
Per Share
Exercise Price 2004 2003 2002

Outstanding at beginning of ye $ 19.67 2,724,601 2,585,000 2,733,60!
Grantec

2004—$23.98 to $35.29 per sha 26.48  228,30(

200:—$28.70 per shar 286,40(

2002—$26.88 per shar 296,40(
Exercisec

2004—$13.56 to $18.31 per sha 16.6: (311,700

200:—$16.33 to $18.33 per sha (146,800

2002—%$8.67 to $18.33 per sha (432,400
Expired

2002—$27.25 to $29.03 per sha — — (12,600
Outstanding at end of ye

(2004—$13.56 to $35.29 per shai 20.61 2,641,200 2,724,601 2,585,00!
Exercisable at end of ye 20.0¢ 2,412,900 2,438,201 2,288,60!

The following table summarizes weighted-averagerimftion by range of exercise prices for stockaioutstanding and exercisable at

December 31, 2004:

Options Weighted-
Options Weighted- Exercisable a Weighted- Average
Outstanding at Remaining
Average December 31 Average Contractual
Range of December 31, Exercise Exercise

Exercise Prices 2004 Price 2004 Price Life
$13.56 524,40( $ 13.5¢ 524,40( $ 13.5¢ 6 year:
$15.14 to $18.3 977,30( 16.22 977,30( 16.22 5 year
$23.98 to $35.2 1,139,50! 27.62 911,20( 27.91 8 year

2,641,20! 2,412,901

The weighted-average fair value per option at thte df grant during 2004, 2003 and 2002, usind@dlaek-Scholes optiopricing model, wa

$10.31, $11.14 and $9.71, respectively. Assumpticere as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Expected life (years 6.5 6.4 6.3
Risk-free interest rat 4% 3.7% 3.2%
Dividend yield 22% 22% 2.2%
Expected volatility 43.% 43.% 41.2%
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10. Pension and Other Posretirement Benefits

The company provides retirement benefits for alitéthStates employees including benefits for emgédsyof discontinued operations which
were earned up to the date of sale. The companyhals several foreign pension plans, none of waiehmaterial to the company’s financial
position.

The company has a defined-contribution profit sigagnd retirement plan covering the majority osgaried nonunion employees which
provides for annual company contributions of 35pat to 140 percent of qualifying contributions mdy participating employees. The
amount of the company’s contribution in excess®p8rcent is dependent upon the company'’s proliitablhe company also has defined-
contribution plans for certain hourly employees ethprovide for annual matching company contribugion

The company has several unfunded defined-beneditiadirement plans covering certain hourly andi$atl employees that provide medical
and life insurance benefits from retirement to &§eCertain hourly employees retiring after Januar¥996, are subject to a maximum ani
benefit and salaried employees hired after Dece®bet 993, are not eligible for post-retirement roalbenefits.

Obligations and Funded Status

The following tables present the changes in beoéfigations, plan assets and funded status foredtimpension and post-retirement plans
and the components of net periodic benefit costs.

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2004 2003
Change in benefit obligations
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $(751.9) $(703.9 $ (17.9 $ (18.9
Service cos (8.6) (7.5 (0.2 (0.2
Interest cos (46.3) (46.8) (1.0 (1.2
Participant contribution — — (0.5 (0.€)
Plan amendmen (0.7) 7.8 — (0.2
Actuarial (losses) gains including assumption cles (28.€) (56.5 (0.5) 1.1
Benefits paic 55.4 55.€ 1.7 1.6
Benefit obligation at end of ye $(779.5 $(751.9 $ (178 $ (17.9
Change in plan asset
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ $667.1 $592¢ $ — $ —
Actual return on plan asse 56.C 127.¢ — —
Contribution by the compar 0.2 2.C 1.2 1.3
Participant contribution — — 0.5 0.€
Benefits paic (55.9 (55.¢ .7 (1.9
Fair value of plan assets at end of y $667.¢ $667.1 $ — $ —
Benefit obligations in excess of plan asse $(111.6) $ 8429 $ (7.9 $ (17.9
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (ge 234t 200.¢ (0.7) (1.9
Unrecognized prior service cost (cret (0.9 (0.2 0.1 —
Net amount recognize $122 $116.2 $ (184 $ (18.79)
Amounts recognized in the statement of

financial position:

Accumulated other comprehensive loss before $210« $177¢ $ — $ —
Current liabilities — — (1.6) 2.7
Non-current liabilities (87.9 (61.€) (16.8) 17.0
Net amount recognize $1225 $116.2 $ (184 $ (18.9)
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10. Pension and Other Pos-retirement Benefits (continued)

Pension Benefits

Post-retirement Benefits

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Components of net periodic benefit cost
Service cos $ 8€ $ 75 $ 82 $02 $02 $0.:3
Interest cos 46.5 46.¢ 46.€ 1.C 1.1 1.2
Expected return on plan ass (64.9 (66.9) (73.9 — — —
Amortization of prior service co: 0.4 0.4 1.C (0.2) (0.2 (0.2
Amortization of net actuarial (gain) lo 3.€ — — (0.2 — —
Definec-benefit plan cost (incom: (6.0 (116 (@7.) $1C $11 $13
Various U.S. defined-contribution

plans cos 3.7 4.5 4.7

$(239 $((7.0) $(129

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated bigoéligation and fair value of plan assets for toenpany’s pension plans, both of which
are underfunded, with accumulated benefit obligaetivexcess of plan assets were $779.5, $755.%661¢.9 million, respectively, as of

December 31, 2004, and $751.3, $730.2 and $667libmirespectively, as of December 31, 2003.

Additional information
The change in the minimum liability included in etlcomprehensive income is as follows:

Pension Benefits

Post-retirement Benefits

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2004 2003
Increase (decrease) in minimum liability includadther
comprehensive income, net of 1 $197 $(749H $ — $ —

Assumptions
Actuarial assumption used to determine benefitgallibns at December 31 are as follows:

Pension Benefits

Post-retirement Benefits

2004 2003 2004 2003
Discount rate 6.0(% 6.25% 6.0(% 6.25%
Rate of compensation incree 4.0(% 4.0(% 4.0(% 4.0(%

Actuarial assumptions used to determine net peribenefit cost for the year ended December 31sfellaws:

Pension Benefits

Post-retirement Benefits

Years ended December 31 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Discount rate 6.25% 6.75% 7.25% 6.25% 6.7%% 7.25%
Expected lon-term return on plan asse 9.0(% 9.0(% 9.7%% nle n/e n/e
Rate of compensation incree 40% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0(%

In developing the expected long-term rate of reagsumption, the company evaluated its pensioriglarget asset allocation and historical
long-term rates of return of equity and bond indicEhe company also considered its pension plasterical 10-year and 25-year

compounded annualized returns of 12.6 percent ariddercent, respectively.

Assumed health care cost trend rates
Assumed health care cost trend rates as of Dece®ibare as follows:

2004 2003

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next 10.0(% 9.0(%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed tiinéeche



ultimate trend rate 5.0(% 5.0(%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 201C 200¢
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10. Pension and Other Pos-retirement Benefits (continued)

A one-percentage-point change in the assumed heséhcost trend rates would not result in a maltéripact on the company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Plan Assets
The company'’s pension plan weighted asset allatatis of December 31 by asset category are asvfollo

Asset Category 2004 2003
Equity securitie: 71% 72%
Debt securitie! 24 24
Private equity 3 3
Other 2 1

100% 100%

The companys target allocation to equity managers is betwdeto &0 percent with the remainder allocated pritpéo bond managers anc
small allocation to private equity managers. Thegany regularly reviews its actual asset allocaind periodically rebalances its
investments to the targeted allocation when cons@tlappropriate.

There is no company stock included in plan assddeeember 31, 2004 and 2003.

Cash Flows
The company does not expect to contribute to itsjo@ plans in 2005.

Estimated Future Payments
The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service, as appropriate, are expectée fmaid:

Post-

retirement
Pension
Years ending December 31 (dollars in millions) Benefits Benefits
2005 $ 56.¢ $ 1.2
2006 58.2 1.2
2007 59.7 1.3
2008 60.€ 1.3
2009 62.1 1.3
Years 201(- 2014 326.( 7.2
11. Income Taxes
The components of the provision for income taxessisted of the following:
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002
Current:
Federal $0.89 $01 $4¢
State 1.3 14 1.€
International 3.9 4.5 3.5
Deferred 7.7 20.8 17.2

$12.1  $26.€ $27.1
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11. Income Taxes (continued

The provision for income taxes differs from the U&leral statutory rate due to the following items

Years ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
Provision at U.S. federal statutory ri 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income and franchise taxes, net of federadfite 2.€ 3.1 3.t
International income tax rate different (12.5) (3.5 (2.3
Research tax credi — (1.2 1.3
Other 0.4 0.t (0.9
25.5% 33.9% 34.5%
Components of earnings before income taxes wefwlaws:
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002
United State: $23.2 $60.C $63.t
International 242 19.C 14.c¢

$47.5 $79.C $78.4

Total taxes paid (tax refunds received) by the camyfor continuing and discontinued operations amedito $(2.1), 6.7 and $(10.6) million
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

No provision for U.S. income taxes or foreign withiting taxes has been made on the undistributedregr of foreign subsidiaries as st
earnings are considered to be permanently inveStddecember 31, 2004, the undistributed earnimgsunted to $91.2 million.
Determination of the amount of unrecognized deteta liability on the undistributed earnings ig peacticable. In addition, no provision or
benefits for U.S. income taxes have been made reigfo currency translation gains or losses.

The tax effects of temporary differences of asaatsliabilities between income tax and financigloiting are as follows:

December 31 (dollars in million:

2004 2003

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Employee benefit $52.¢6 $ — $42:  $ —
Recoverable dip tube cos — 13.1 — 13.1
Product liability and warrant 35.4 — 36.2 —
Depreciation difference — 37.€ — 37.€
Amortization difference — 36.7 — 31.2
Derivative instrument — 7.5 — 6.C
Tax loss and credit carryove 8.3 — 6.1 —
All other 1.7 3.8 2.3 3.8
Valuation allowanct (2.9 — (1.9 —

$95.6 $ 987 $85E $ 91t
Net liability $ (2.9 $ (6.9

These deferred tax assets and liabilities areifiled$n the balance sheet as current or long-teased on the balance sheet classification of
the related assets and liabilities as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003

Current deferred income tax ass $10.¢ $14.c
Long-term deferred income tax liabiliti¢ (13.9) (20.6)
Net liability $29 $ (6.3



As a result of the acquisition of State, the conypzas $2.6 million of federal net operating losgyavers that expire in 2021, $6.5 million of
federal capital loss carryovers that expire in 2808 $3.4 million of tax credits, the majority ohiwh have an unlimited carryover period.

32



Table of Contents

11. Income Taxes (continued

The company has foreign net operating loss carmgowéth tax benefits of $2.4 million. Of the $2.4llion of tax benefits, $0.8 million have
an unlimited carryover period and $1.6 million ergietween 2006 and 2009. Based on future redligalai valuation allowance of $2.4
million has been established against the foreigroperating loss carryover tax benefits.

The company also has approximately $148 milliostafe and local net operating loss carryovers.riagrity of these carryovers expire
between 2010 and 2024.

The company recorded a $7.3 million prior perioglatinent to increase retained earnings and dectkasemount of deferred tax liabilities
recorded as of the beginning of the reporting gkridis adjustment was recorded to recognize diffees that existed between the originally
recorded amount of deferred tax liabilities relai@g@roperty, plant and equipment and the amouattghould have been recorded based on
timing differences between financial reporting &axi reporting. The company determined that the dative difference dated back to 1999
and prior periods. Accordingly, retained earning®fthe beginning of the reporting period was sidjd. Previously issued net earnings for
2003 and 2002 were not adjusted as the differetessribed above were not material to those periods.

12. Litigation and Insurance Matters

The company is involved in various unresolved legdilons, administrative proceedings and claiménordinary course of its business
involving product liability, property damage, inance coverage, patents and environmental mattetading the disposal of hazardous
waste. Although it is not possible to predict witrtainty the outcome of these unresolved leg@reior the range of possible loss or
recovery, the company believes these unresolved &gions will not have a material effect on itsahcial position or results of operations.
The following paragraphs summarize noteworthy actiand proceedings.

In 1999, a class action lawsuit was filed in thetebh States District Court, Western District of Btiri, by individuals on behalf of
themselves and all persons throughout the UnitateStvho have owned or currently own a water heaserufactured by Rheem
Manufacturing Company, A. O. Smith Corporation, doad White Company, American Water Heater Compawghinvar Corporation, and
State Industries, Inc. (the “water heater manufacsli) that contains a dip tube manufactured, adesigsupplied or sold by Perfection
Corporation between August 1993 and October 199%ipAube is a plastic tube in a residential wagsiter that brings the cold water supply
to the bottom area of the tank to be heated. Taiafiffs and the water heater manufacturers reaalsattiement of this lawsuit which the
Court approved in 2000. The water heater manufargyraid the settlement, and all other legal astlmought against the water heater
manufacturers related to dip tube claims have lksmissed as a result of the settlement of thes @dason.

Separately, the water heater manufacturers inLR®® filed a direct action lawsuit in the Civil Drist Court for the Parish of Orleans, State
Louisiana, against Perfection Corporation and AozriMeter Company, the parent company of Perfe@imporation, and their insurers to
recover various damages caused by deterioratingitdgs that were manufactured by Perfection Cotjworal he trial was completed, the jt
finished its deliberations and returned a verdicsome, but not all, of the claims presented ak t@n July 8, 2004, the Judge entered an «
of partial judgment finding Perfection Corporatitable to the water heater manufacturers for bredaxpress warranty and for contribution
and awarded $19.3 million with judicial interestrr the filing of the lawsuit. The judgment alsceatgd all of Perfection Corporation’s
claims against the water heater manufacturerstendiater heater manufacturers’ claim for breactootract against Perfection Corporation.
The Judge ordered a new trial on the water heaa@ufacturers’ other claims against Perfection Caon and the claim against American
Meter Company asserting that it is liable for thtsaf Perfection Corporation. The water heaterufasturers are seeking to recover an
additional $77 million in damages at the new tiigding the amount the jurors in the first trialigaed to the claims for which they were not
able to reach a verdict. The date of that trialf@sbeen established. The judgment entered on8)@904, cannot be appealed until the new
trial has been completed and a judgment enterésllikely that all or part of the judgments wikklappealed by one or more parties adversely
affected by the judgments. The appeals processl ¢aké from one to three years to complete.

Perfection Corporation sued the water heater matwiers in a separate action in Cook County, liEn@he filing by Perfection Corporation
was an attempt to preempt the Louisiana lawsuit &btion was dismissed.
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12. Litigation and Insurance Matters (continued)

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectivelyctimepany recorded a long-term receivable of $34lilom (as detailed below) related to
dip tube repair claims, administrative costs, ldgak and related expenses.

(dollars in millions)

Claim payment: $22.5
Administrative cost: 7.5
Legal fees 4.2

$34.C

It is the company’s expectation that all or a sabgal portion of its costs will be recovered frétarfection Corporation, American Meter
Company and their insurers, as well as the compangurers. The water heater manufacturers havetintefd settlements with 13 insurers of
Perfection Corporation and American Meter Compaitia the proceeds of the settlements being placeddnow. Management also believes
the two defendant companies have the financiaitald pay a judgment. The company has initiatedldlaim process with the company’s
insurers and reasonably believes that, if necessavgrage provisions would apply.

The company is currently involved as a potentiedigponsible party (PRP) in judicial and administeproceedings initiated on behalf of
various state and federal regulatory agencies sge&iclean up 10 sites which have been environafigrinpacted (the “sites”) and to
recover costs they have incurred or will incuraghe sites.

It is impossible at this time to estimate the tat@dt of remediation for the sites or the companitisnate share of those costs, primarily
because the sites are in various stages of thediatiom process and issues remain open at marg/ctecerning the selection and
implementation of the final remedy, the cost of tieanedy and the compamyfiability at a site relative to the liability amibility of the othe
PRPs. The company has established reserves feitéisen a manner that is consistent with accogriitnciples generally accepted in the
United States for costs associated with such clesminen those costs are capable of being reasoestityated. To the best of the company’
knowledge, the reserves it has established, $@Q%$arl million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, resgEly, and insurance proceeds that are
available to the company are sufficient to covere¢bmpany'’s liability. The company further belieWssnsurers have the financial ability to
pay any such covered claims, and there are vidRRsRit each of the sites which have the finanbitityato pay their respective shares of
liability at the sites. The company believes that anvironmental claims in excess of reserves rarse proceeds and indemnified amounts
will not have a material effect on its financialgit@n or results of operations.

In addition to those sites, the company is involiretivo other environmental matters. The first imatter the company previously reported
which involves a former mine in Colorado that isngeremediated by the United States Environmentatdetion Agency (EPA). The State of
Colorado appealed the trial court’s decision tonis the State’s claims against the company toverdts costs associated with remediation
of the mine site. The Court of Appeals reversedotidker dismissing those claims and remanded th&entzdck to the trial court. The compi
believes that the claims against it will ultimatély dismissed because the company was neitHemarer” nor“operator” of the site, but

was merely a stockholder in a mining corporatiaat thorked the mine from 1936 to 1942. As such,duid have no liability under applicat
environmental laws to the State or any other pditye second matter involves a notification by age party in October 2003 that it intends
to bring a lawsuit against the company and othergamies involved in mining operations in Coloraldattcaused damage to the private
party’s land. The claimant has taken no furtheioactvith respect to this claim. In the event sughifer action is taken, the company expects
that any claims brought against it by the privedetyproperty owner will also be ultimately disnegsbecause, as with the case discussed
immediately above, the company was merely a stddkingn mining corporations that worked the minmgoived in this claim from 1936 to
1941 and was neither downer” nor“operator” of the site.

The company is the primary lessee on a facilitgdéeia Corydon, Indiana related to a business soltbtver Automotive, Inc. (Tower). The

lease has annual payments of $1.2 million and egpir February 2010. The company entered into keasé arrangement with Tower in 1¢
with the same terms and conditions as the compeasel Tower filed for bankruptcy on February 2,320he amount of liability, if any, to

the company related to the sublease arrangemantiterminable at this time.

With respect to non-environmental claims, the comypgaas self-insured a portion of its product lispiloss exposure and other business risks
for many years. The company has established resarvigh it believes are adequate to cover incuctaishs. For the year ended December
31, 2004, the company had $125 million of prodiatiility insurance for individual losses in exce$$5 million. The company periodically
reevaluates its exposure on claims and makes agjuss to its reserves as appropriate.
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13. Operations by Segmen

The company has two reportable segments: Elec®icalucts and Water Systems. The Electrical Precseggment manufactures fractional
horsepower alternating current (A/C) and directentr (D/C) and integral horsepower motors useairsfand blowers in furnaces, air
conditioners and ventilating systems; industrigllations such as material handling; as well astlirer consumer products such as home
appliances and pumps, swimming pools, hot tubssgad. In addition, the Electrical Products segmartufactures hermetic motors which
are sold worldwide to manufacturers of compreseeesl in air conditioning and refrigeration systefifee Water Systems segment
manufactures residential gas and electric wateteheas well as commercial water heating equipmsed in a wide range of applications
including hotels, laundries, car washes, factaaies large institutions. In addition, the Water ys$ segment manufactures copper tube
boilers used in large-volume hot water and hydrdwiating applications.

The accounting policies of the reportable segmargshe same as those described in the “Summaigafficant Accounting Policies”
outlined in Note 1. Intersegment sales have beeluéad from segment revenues and are immateriaralipg earnings, defined by the
company as earnings before interest, taxes, gecamabrate and corporate research and developmpahses, is used to measure the
performance of the segments and allocate resources.

Net Earnings Net Sales

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Electrical Product $515 $54z $57€ $ 860.7 $ 824 $ 790.<
Water System 36.¢ 57.2 58.4 792.2 706.1 678.1
Total segment— operating earning 88.c 111«  116.C $1,653.. $1,530.° $1,469.:
General corporate and research and developmenhsag (27.9 (20.2) (23.9)

Interest expens (13.5 (129 (139

Earnings before income tax 47.t 79.C 78.4

Provision for income taxe (12.1) (26.9) (27.)

Net earnings $354 $522 $51.:¢

There were no sales to customers exceeding 10%nsbtidated net sales in 2004. Net sales of thetifital Products segment include sale
York International Corporation of $157.3 and $178i8ion in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Assets, depreciation and capital expenditures by gment

Depreciation and Capital

Amortization Expenditures

Total Assets (Years Ended (Years Ended

(December 31) December 31) December 31)
(dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Electrical Product $ 7384 $ 7321 $ 697.4 $33.1 $33.7 $33.1 $27.¢ $27. $27.C
Water System 488.t 466.¢ 4347 19.¢ 17 16.¢ 19¢ 20.6 18
Total segment 1,226.¢ 1,198.¢ 1,132.. 53.1 51.z 50.C 47.& 481 45.¢
Corporate asse 85.¢ 81.C 92.¢ 0.8 0.8 0.7 0.7 0.5 0.7
Total $1,312.¢ $1,279.¢ $1,224.¢ $53.¢ $52.1 $50.7 $48.E $48.6 $46.c

Corporate assets consist primarily of cash and egslvalents, deferred income taxes and derivatbaets.
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13. Operations by Segment (continued

Net sales and long-lived assets by geographic loicat

The following data by geographic area includessadts based on product shipment destination amgdlieed assets based on physical

location. Long-lived assets include net propertgnpand equipment and other long-term assets xeidde prepaid pension, other intangibles

and long-lived assets of discontinued operations.

Long-lived Assets Net Sales
(dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
United State: $254.5 $267.1 $283.C United State $1,384.¢ $1,295.¢ $1,282.¢
Mexico 111.C 110.2 102.7 Foreign 268.: 234.¢ 186.2
China 36.€ 32t 26.€ Total $1,653.. $1,530." $1,469.:

Other Foreigr

Total

14. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

(dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Net sales

Gross profit

Net earning:

Net earnings per sha
Basic
Diluted

Common dividends declar¢

12.5 11.4 9.8

$414.€ $421.F $422.1

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
$416.5 $387.¢ $437.2 $417.€ $389.¢ $356.4 $409.2 $368.¢

78.1 78.2 88.4 83.¢

62.C 61.5 69.5 75.2

10.7 13.7 17.c 19.€ 3.0 6.C 4.4 12.7

.37 A7 .
.3€ A€ .
§lis 14

5¢ .68 .10 21 1€ 43
58 .67 A0 .2C JAE 42
§lis 14 .16 §lis 1€ A5

Net earnings per share are computed separateafir period and, therefore, the sum of such qiyager share amounts may differ from 1

total for the year.
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ITEM 9 —CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A —CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Our chief executive officer and chief financialioffir have evaluated the effectiveness of our dssccontrols and procedures as of
December 31, 2004, and have concluded that thesksliire controls and procedures were adequatefteative to ensure that material
information relating to the company and its corgatied subsidiaries would be made known to themthogrs within those entities.

Changes in internal controls

There were no significant changes in our interoati®ls over financial reporting or in other factdhat could significantly affect our
disclosure controls and procedures nor were theyesiginificant deficiencies or material weaknesaeasur internal controls. As a result, no
corrective actions were required or undertaken.

Management Report on Internal Control

The management of A. O. Smith Corporation is resjia for establishing and maintaining adequaterivdl control over financial reporting.
A. O. Smith Corporation’s internal control systerasadesigned to provide reasonable assurance tmthgany’s management and board of
directors regarding the preparation and fair preegem of published financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how welkidmed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etmrse systems determined to be effective
can provide only reasonable assurance with respdictancial statement preparation and presentation

A. O. Smith Corporation management assessed thete#ness of the company’s internal control ovrairicial reporting as of December 31,
2004. In making this assessment, management usemdlitéria set forth by the Committee of Sponsofrganizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) imternal Control—Integrated FrameworkBased on our assessment we believe that, asaginilzer 31, 2004, the
company’s internal control over financial reportisgeffective based on those criteria.

A. O. Smith Corporation’s independent auditors hiagaed an audit report on our assessment of th@aay’s internal control over financial
reporting. This report appears on page 38.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
A.O. Smith Corporation

We have audited management’s assessment, inclndbed accompanying Management Report on Internatr@lp that A. O. Smith
Corporation maintained effective internal contreépfinancial reporting as of December 31, 2004¢gblzon criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Caaion (the COSO criteria). A.
O. Smith Corporation’s management is responsibienfaintaining effective internal control over fir@al reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over finahcggporting. Our responsibility is to express amgmn on management’'s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s imaécontrol over financial reporting based on audlia

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq@nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordver financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluatirpiign and operating effectiveness of internatrobrand performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the @tanoes. We believe that our audit provides a redde basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttiegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircgal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (8jige reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@izé statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that An@ith Corporation maintained effective internal ttohover financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all mateeapects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, mopinion, A. O. Smith Corporation
maintained, in all material respects, effectiveinal control over financial reporting as of DecemB1, 2004, based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited, in accordance with the stadsd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of A. O. Smith Corporation as ofebdwer 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consetidaatements of earnings,
comprehensive earnings, stockholdelity, and cash flows for each of the three y@atlse period ended December 31, 2004 and our
dated January 31, 2005 expressed an unqualifiedoopthereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
January 31, 2005
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PART IlI
ITEM 10 - DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information included under the headings “Etatf Directors” and “Board Committees” as it relto the Audit Committee and Report
of the Audit Committee in the company’s definitieoxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Bbhatders (to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission under Regulatidnwithin 120 days after the end of the regidfsafiscal year) is incorporated herein
by reference. The information required regardingdtive Officers of the company is included in Ranf this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the caption “Executive Officers of the Compan

The company has a separately designated Audit Ctieeran which Gene C. Wulf, Dennis J. Martin andivia. Smith serve, with Mr. Wu
as Chairperson. All members are independent urgjdicable SEC and NYSE rules; Mr. Wulf is an “autbimmittee financial expert” in
accordance with SEC rules.

The company has adopted a Financial Code of Ediipcable to its principal executive officer, gripal financial officer and principal
accounting officer. As a best practice, this cods been executed by all other company officerskegdinancial and accounting personnel as
well. In addition, the company has adopted a gémede of business conduct for its directors, @fficand all employees, which is known as
the A. O. Smith Guiding Principles. The Financialdgé of Ethics, the A. O. Smith Guiding Principleslather company corporate
governance matters are available on the compamgtsite at www.aosmith.com. The company intendssdake on this website any
amendments to, or waivers from, the Financial Gufdgthics or the A. O. Smith Guiding Principlestthge required to be disclosed pursuant
to SEC rules. To date there have been no waivetsedfinancial Code of Ethics or the A. O. SmithHdihg Principles. Stockholders may
obtain copies of any of these corporate governdoncements free of charge by writing to the Corpp@écretary at the address on the cover
page of this Form 10-K.

The information included under the heading “Commiawith Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchangg i the company’s definitive
Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Btadders (to be filed with the Securities and Exd@Commission under Regulation
14A within 120 days after the end of the registsafiscal year) is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information included under the heading “ExestCompensation” in the company’s definitive Pr&tgtement for the 2005 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the Séties and Exchange Commission under Regulationi#Ain 120 days after the end of the
registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporated hereinréference, except for the information requireghayagraphs (i), (k) and (l) of Item 402(a)(8)
of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 12 - SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information included under the headings “PpatiStockholders” and “Security Ownership of Dimstand Management” in the
company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 200tBal Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with ®ecurities and Exchange Commission
under Regulation 14A within 120 days after the ehthe registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporateddie by reference.

ITEM 13 - CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information included under the heading “Compéina Committee Interlocks and Insider Participaitim the companys definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockhddio be filed with the Securities and Exchangen@uission under Regulation 14A
within 120 days after the end of the registranssdl year) is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14 - PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by Item 14 of this Form and thudit Committee’s pre-approval policy regardihg Engagement of the principal
accountant are incorporated herein by reference fhee company’s definitive Proxy Statement for 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
(to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossion under Regulation 14A within 120 days afterehd of the registrant’s fiscal year)
under the heading “Report of the Audit Committee.”
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PART IV
ITEM 15 - EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES and REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(@) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Sébg

Form 10-K
Page Numbe
The following consolidated financial statement#of. Smith Corporation are included in Item
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2@D2008 17
For each of the three years in the period ende@mber 31, 2004
- Consolidated Statement of Earnir 18
- Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Earningss( 18
- Consolidated Statement of Cash Flc 19
- Consolidated Statement of Stockhol¢ Equity 20
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 21- 36
The following consolidated financial statement stiiie of A. O. Smith Corporation is included in
Item 15(d):
Schedule |- Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 44

Schedules not included have been omitted becaageatie not applicable.
(b) Reports on Form-K

On October 14, 2004, the Company filed a CurreqtdReon Form 8-K, reporting under Iltems 2.02 ar@l%nnouncing the
Company’s results for the quarter ended Septenhe2@4.

On December 20, 2004, the company filed a CurrepioR on Form 8-K, reporting under Item 5.02(dp@mcing that Paul W.
Jones was elected on December 17, 2004, to thalB®d&¥irectors.

(c) Exhibits- see the Index to Exhibits on pages- 42 of this report

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14a-3(b)(1eSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amentthedcompany will, upon
request and upon payment of a reasonable fee eattrd the rate at which such copies are avaifadsie the Securities and
Exchange Commission, furnish copies to its secinitgers of any exhibits listed in the Index to ixis.

Management contracts and compensatory plans aadganments required to be filed as exhibits pursieaitém 15(c) of Form 10-
K are listed as Exhibits 10(a) through 10(h) in itheéex to Exhibits.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number

3)(0)

(3)(ii)

(4)

(10)

Description

(@)

(b)

(©

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the cogtimn as amended April 5, 1995, incorporated bgreefce to the
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter enbliedch 31, 1995, and as further amended on Feb&jak996, and
incorporated by reference to the annual reportamFL(-K for the year ended December 31, 1€

By-laws of the corporation as amended October 37 1lBcorporated by reference to the quarterly repo Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 1!

Restated Certificate of Incorporation af torporation as amended April 5, 1995, incorparatereference to Exhibit 3
to the corporatic’s annual report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 1995 (File M475).

Credit Agreement, dated as of June 10, 280vng A. O. Smith Corporation, various finanastitutions, M&l
Marshall & lisley Bank, U.S. Bank National Assoaist and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Gmcumentation Agents, a
Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, arporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to the corgoras quarterly
report on Form 1-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2(

The corporation has instruments that detfireerights of holders of long-term debt that aseleing filed with this
Registration Statement in reliance upon Item 6q#fki)i) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant agreedurnish to the
Securities and Exchange Commission, upon requasies of these instrumen

Material Contract:

(@)
(b)
(©

(d)

A. O. Smith Corporation 1990 Long-Term Ext@ce Incentive Compensation Plan, as amendedrpocated by
reference to the Formr-8 Registration Statement filed by the corporatiorDecember 13, 1994, (Reg. No-56827).

A. O. Smith Corporation Long-Term Executineentive Compensation Plan incorporated by refezdo the Form S-8
Registration Statement filed by the corporatiorDetember 8, 1999, (Reg. No. -92329).

A. O. Smith Combined Executive Incentivengqensation Plan, incorporated by reference as ixhito the Proxy
Statement filed on March 4, 2002, for the Aprie802, Annual Meeting of Stockholde

Separation Agreement dated June 14, 20Ghtybetween A. O. Smith Corporation and Donaldginrich.
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Exhibit
Number

(10)

(21)
(23)
(31.1)

(31.2)

(32)

®
@)

(h)

Description

()

Executive Life Insurance Plan, incorpordigdeference to the Annual Report on Form 10-Kifier fiscal year ended
December 31, 199:

Corporate Directordeferred Compensation Plan, as amended, incorpbbgteeference to the Annual Report on Fi
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1¢

Executive Supplemental Pension Plan incaga by Reference to the Annual Report on FornK I6r the fiscal year
ended December 31, 20(

Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan, incorpedaby Reference to the Annual Report on Form 0+Khe fiscal year
ended December 31, 20(

Subsidiaries

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

Certification by the Chairman and Chief Executivifi¢@r, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes@Rct, dated
February 23, 200«

Certification by the Senior Vice-President and €Ri@ancial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of S&rbanes-Oxley
Act, dated February 23, 20C

Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officedahe Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.SS€ction 1350
42



Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the reaiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on behalf of the undersigned, thereunto dutitorized.

A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

By: /s/ Robert J. 'Toole

Robert J. ( Toole
Chief Executive Office

Date February 15, 200

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed ba®wf February 15, 2005 by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name and Title

ROBERT J. O'TOOLE
Chairman of the Board of
Directors and

Chief Executive Office

PAUL W. JONES
Director, President and
Chief Operating Officer

KENNETH W. KRUEGER
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

JOHN J. KITA

Vice President, Treasurer and Controller

RONALD D. BROWN
Director

WILLIAM F. BUEHLER
Director

DENNIS J. MARTIN
Director

BRUCE M. SMITH
Director

MARK D. SMITH
Director

GENE C. WULF
Director
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Signature

/s/ Robert J. O'Toole

Robert J. O'Toole

/s/ Paul W. Jones

Paul W. Jone

/sl Kenneth W. Krueger

Kenneth W. Kruege

/s/ John J. Kita

John J. Kite

/s/ Ronald D. Brown

Ronald D. Browr

/s/ William F. Buehler

William F. Buehler

/s/ Dennis J. Martin

Dennis J. Martir

/s/ Bruce M. Smith

Bruce M. Smitt

/sl Mark D. Smith

Mark D. Smith

/s/ Gene C. Wulf

Gene C. Wuls
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A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(In millions)

Years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Charged tc
Balance a
o Costs and Acquisition Balance a
Beginning Expenses of Deductions End of
Description of Year Businesse: 2 Year
2004:
Valuation allowance for trade and notes receiv. $ 4.2 $ 11 $ — $ (0.7 $ 4¢€
2003:
Valuation allowance for trade and notes receiv. 4.8 0.8 0.3 .7 4.2
2002:
Valuation allowance for trade and notes receiv. 4.9 2.€ (0.6) (2.3 4.8

1 Provision based upon estimated collection.

2 Uncollectible amounts/expenditures charged agé#iesteserve.
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Exhibit 10 (d)

SEPARATION AGREEMENT DATED JUNE 14, 2004 BY AND BETWEEN A. O. SMITH CORPORATION AND DONALD M.
HEINRICH

THIS AGREEMENT, by and between A. O. Smith Corpmnata Delaware corporation, hereinafter refermedd “A O. Smith” and
Donald M. Heinrich, an individual, hereinafter nefel to as “Heinrich”;

WHEREAS, Heinrich is currently employed by A. O. imin the capacity of President of A. O. Smith &tecal Products Company;
and

WHEREAS, A. O. Smith and Heinrich desire to terntindhe employment relationship under terms accéptalthe parties.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cws herein contained, it is agreed as follows:

1. Heinrich is relieved of his duties of the daydimy management of the Electrical Products Compéry. O. Smith Corporation business
effective May 11, 2004

2. Heinrich shall remain as an active employeehen&. O. Smith payroll at his current base salanyl May 15, 2006. While on the active
payroll, Heinrich shall make himself available &rfprm such duties as may be reasonably requegtBdld W. Jones or his design

3. A. O. Smith agrees to continue group insuramserage for Heinrich and his eligible dependentgeanltie remains on the active payroll.
The coverages will include Disability, Health andridal. Heinrich will continue to participate in the O. Smith Retirement Plan and
A. O. Smith Profit Sharing Retirement Plan whileremains on the active employee payroll. Heinricéllsbe eligible for the Company
Matching Contribution in the A. O. Smith Profit Sy Retirement Plan in the year he ceases to tbeecemployed by A. O. Smitt

4.  Heinrich will continue to be eligible for the Exdiue Split Dollar Life Insurance Policy(s) benedis follows:

. PreRetirement Policy(s) Life insurance protection will continue to be pided under these policies while Heinrich remainghe
active payroll with A. O. Smith but no later tharaiM15, 2006. When Heinrich ceases to be on theeaptyroll, the split dollar
agreements covering these policies shall termiaatieA. O. Smith shall release its collateral irgera the policies. When Heinri
begins to collect his benefit under the A. O. Sn@itirporation Executive Supplemental Pension Plemyalue of the policies shi
be an offset to benefits due under the F

. Post Retirement Policyl ife insurance protection will continue to be pided under this policy while Heinrich remains twe t
active payroll with A. O. Smith but no later tharaiM15, 2006. When Heinrich ceases to be on theeaptiyroll of A. O. Smith,
the split dollar agreement will be terminated ama policy will be terminated unless Heinrich eleictsnake arrangements to
continue the policy

5. Supplemental Profit Sharing PlaHeinrich shall be eligible to receive suppleméptafit sharing contributions while he remainstbe
active payroll. The amount of money in Heinrichiggplemental Profit Sharing Plan will be paid ouhtm in January of the year
following his termination from employmer

6. Deferred Incentive Compensation Accoumhe amount of money in Heinrich’s Deferred IndemtCompensation Account will be paid




to him in January of the year following his terntina from employment unless he submits a new eladtrm directing otherwist

Stock Option No new stock option grants will be made to Haihréffective with the execution of this AgreemeXit.stock option
agreements held by Heinrich will be amended torektee period of exercisability to May 15, 2006 eTdmended stock option

agreements will provide that Heinrich'’s right toeesise the options will immediately terminate ugmy violation of the provisions of
paragraph 17 of this Agreeme

Restricted StockNo new restricted stock grants will be made tanHeh. Existing restricted stock will continue vest while Heinrich
remains on the active payroll and restricted dinatewill continue to be paid annually to

45



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan account. At theetHeinrich’s employment is terminated, he will e fully vested in any unvested
restricted stock grant

In the event that Heinrich obtains other fulitd employment before May 15, 2006, the salary paysrghall continue through May 15,
2006, but his employment with A. O. Smith and tkeedfit coverages under Paragraph 3 shall termasatd the date he commences
such employmen

Heinrich shall be eligible to receive a bonader the A. O. Smith Executive Incentive Compeisaklan for 2004. He shall not be
eligible for any bonus under the 2005 or 2006 bgias.

Heinrich shall be eligible for the use of hisrent company leased car until he has secured fitlh¢éime employment but no later than
May 31, 2005. At such time, he shall have the aptibreturning the car or purchasing the car fotlien book value. During his use of
the company leased car, A. O. Smith shall mairafiiaxisting collision, comprehensive and liabilinsurance on the car, and Heinrich
shall be responsible for all operating and mainteracosts

The payment by A. O. Smith of fees and dueslids membership Heinrich currently is providedlw# continued through the end of
2004 but not beyon

Heinrich will be eligible for Deloitte & Touche fancial counseling service through December 200lidlirng income tax preparation
2004.

Executive outplacement services will be providethatCompan’'s expense to assist Heinrich in obtaining otherleympent.

A. O. Smith agrees to continue its practiceeadhbursing Heinrich for the income taxes due anithputed or reportable income related
to A. O. Smith’s payment of club fees and duespi@paration and counseling fees, lease paymerttseearompany car, dividends on
Restricted Stock and contributions to the Supplaaid®rofit Sharing Plar

A. O. Smith agrees to continue to provide Doexc& Officers insurance for Heinrich for the petihe is considered an officer of the
Corporation,

In consideration for this Separation AgreementniHeh agrees as follow

A) From the date of execution of this AgreemeniliMay 15, 2006, he will not directly or indirectBngage as an employee,
consultant, or representative in any activity foy dusiness or person which is primarily engagettiénmanufacture, sale or
distribution of electric motors, unless he obtahmes prior written consent of Paul Jones, PresidadtCOO of A. O. Smith
Corporation; ant

B) He will not engage in any act or make any statetywhich criticizes, maligns, denigrates or diggas A. O. Smith or its affiliates
or their directors, officers or employees; ¢

C) From the date of execution of the Agreementl iy 15, 2009, Heinrich agrees that he will natalibse to any person, firm or
corporation any secret, confidential or proprietafgrmation of A. O. Smith or its affiliates, usie such information is in the
public domain or is required to be disclosed by.I8wch secret, confidential and proprietary infarorashall include, but not be
limited to, such matters as A. O. Smith’s costsfits, markets, sales, pricing, product lines, gel, operational methods,
suppliers, customers and strategic plans;

D) He agrees to release and forever discharge &Sn@th Corporation and any of their affiliated canfes, their officers, directors
and employees of and from any and all claims, deinanghts, liabilities and causes of action of tgbaver kind or nature, arisil
out of or in connection with his employment. Thidease specifically encompasses all claims of eynpdmt discrimination based
on race, color, religion, sex and national origider Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 omdler Section 1981 of the Civil
Rights Act of 1866, all claims of age discriminationder the Age Discrimination in Employment Actl®67 (ADEA), all claims
under the Employee Retirement Income Security E&ISA), all claims of employment discrimination wndhe Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA), all claims based on any e&ps or implied employment contract as well asntdaiinder any applicable
state or local law concerning employment. 1
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18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

release shall not apply to any claims for beneiitder applicable unemployment compensation lawangrclaim for vested
benefits under A. O. Smith’s pension and savingsgl This release shall also not apply to any gltddlaims under the Age

Discrimination and Employment Act of 1967 (ADEA) iwh arise after the date this Agreement is exe¢uted

E) In the event that Heinrich violates any of thevisions of Paragraphs 17, A thru D, A. O. Smhhlshave the right to terminate
his employment with A. O. Smith, cease making tagmpents in Paragraph 2 and cease providing theibeogerages outlined in

Paragraph 3 of this Agreeme

Heinrich agrees that he will not disclose #vens, amounts and facts of this Agreement to angtmer than to his financial or tax

advisor/counselor, attorney or Lori Dav

Heinrich shall have the right to revoke this@gment within seven (7) days after he executéy iproviding written notice of such
revocation to A. O. Smith. This Agreement shall beteffective or enforceable until the se-day revocation period has expirt

Heinrich acknowledges that he has been adbigéd O. Smith to seek the advice of an attornearding this Agreement and that he

has been given 21 days to decide whether to agriésterms

The illegality or unenforceability of any preian of this Agreement shall not effect the validihd enforceability of any legal and

enforceable provision of this Agreeme

This Agreement shall supersede and replageial written and oral agreements between the garggarding the subject matter of this

Agreement

This Agreement will be binding upon any successos assigns of A. O. Smit

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlgieement on the day and year indicated below.

Dated June 9, 2004

Dated June 9, 2004

Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES
The following lists all subsidiaries and affiliateSA. O. Smith Corporation.

Name of Subsidiary

AOS Holding Compan
A. O. Smith International Corporatic

State Industries, In

A.O.
0.

. Smith (China) Water Heater Co., L

. Smith Electrical Products (Changzhou) Cod.
. Smith Electrical Products (Shenzhen) Co.,

. Smith Electrical Products (Suzhou) Co., |

. Smith Electrical Products (Taizhou) Co., L

. Smith (Shanghai) Consulting Co., L

. Smith I'’eau chaude S.a.r

A.

>> > > > >>>2>2>>
OO0 O O O O0O0O00O

Smith Holdings (Barbados) SF
Smith Enterprises Lt

. Smith Warmwass-Systemtechnik Gmbl
. Smith Electrical Products Limited Liabilityahpany

. Smith Electric Motors (Ireland) Lt
. Smith Holdings (Ireland) Ltc

IG-Mex, S. de R.L. de C.\

Motores Electricos de Juarez, S. de R.L. de |
Motores Electricos de Monterrey, S. de R.L. de (
Productos de Agua, S. de R.L.de C

Productos Electricos Aplicados, S. de R.L. de (

A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

By: /s/ Edward J. ' Connor

Edward J. O’Connor
Vice President
Human Resources & Public Affai

By: /s/ Donald M. Heinrict

Donald M. Heinrick
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Jurisdiction in Which
Incorporated

Delaware
Delaware

Tennesse
Barbados
Canade

China
China
China
China
China
China

France
Germany
Hungary

Ireland
Ireland

Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico



A.O. Smith Electrical Products B. The Netherland

A.O. Smith Holdings B.V The Netherland
A.O. Smith Holdings Il B.V The Netherland
A.O. Smith International Holdings B.\ The Netherland
A.O. Smith Products v.o. The Netherland
A.O. Smith Water Products Company, B The Netherland
A. O. Smith Electrical Products (S.E.A.) Pte L Singapore

A. O. Smith Electrical Products Limite United Kingdom
State Water Heaters (U.K.) Limite United Kingdom
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Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 33-3783&6827, 333-05799, 333-92329 and
333-92482) pertaining to the A. O. Smith Corponati®90 Long-Term Executive Incentive Compensati@amPhe A. O. Smith Corporation
Long-Term Executive Incentive Compensation PlanthedA. O. Smith Combined Executive Incentive Congadion Plan and in the related
prospectuses of our reports dated January 31, 200brespect to the consolidated financial statetwand schedule of A. O. Smith
Corporation, A. O. Smith Corporation management&easment of the effectiveness of internal contret financial reporting, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting of A. O. Smith Corporation, included ingbAnnual Report (Form 10-K) for the year
ended December 31, 2004.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 15, 2005
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Robert J. O'Toole, Chairman and Chief Executdficer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of A. O. Smith Corporation (th“compan™);

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does notatominy untrue statement of a material fact or donfttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemandsother financial information included in thipoet, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the company as of, andtfierperiods presented in this rep:

4.  The company’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disaie controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and we hay

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the company, including its consolidatetisidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnejzh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahaaorting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgdeng the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’slaésire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the comgis internal control over financial reporting tlo@curred during the company’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the company’s fourskdl quarter in the case of an annual report)ithatmaterially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, tcompan’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The company’s other certifying officer and | alisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtexhal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the acmlitmittee of the company’s board of directors (@nspns performing the equivalent
function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the comy’'s ability to record, process, summarize and refprancial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmiffole in the company’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 15, 2005



/s/ Robert J. " Toole
Robert J. ( Toole
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Kenneth W. Krueger, Senior Vice President anéeCRinancial Officer, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of A. O. Smith Corporation (th“compan™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or donéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemandsother financial information included in thipoet, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the company as of, andffier periods presented in this rep:

4.  The company’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and we hay

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoies designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatedsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’slaksire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the camg{s internal control over financial reporting tleecurred during the company’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the company’s foursledl quarter in the case of an annual report)ithatmaterially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the comp’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The company’s other certifying officer and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiortexhal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the acmlihmittee of the company’s board of directors (@nspns performing the equivalent
function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal corver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the comy's ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signiffole in the company’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 15, 2005

/sl Kenneth W. Kruege
Kenneth W. Kruege
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
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Exhibit 32

Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officedahe
Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sattl350

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, each of the undeesl certifies that to the best of our

knowledge:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of A. O. Smitbr@oration for the year ended December 31, 20 “‘@eport”) fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 18{dfhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934; i

(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of A. O.
Smith Corporation

Date: February 15, 2005

/s/ Robert J. 'Toole




Robert J. ( Toole
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

/sl Kenneth W. Kruege
Kenneth W. Kruege
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
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